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Disclaimer:
This report was prepared pursuant to Section 17 of IRDA Act 2007 and is an account of works and activities done by IRDA. Neither IRDA nor any of its employees
make any warranties, expressed or implied, or assume any legal liability for the accuracy, completeness or usefulness of any information or process disclosed or
represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial trade name, trademark, manufacturer or otherwise
does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation or favouring by IRDA. The views and opinions expressed by authors herein do not
necessarily state or reflect those of the Malaysian Government or the State Government of Johor or any agencies thereof.

Creating growth
To create a strong and sustainable metropolis
of international standing, we have laid a solid
framework for development that allows Iskandar
Malaysia to grow while promoting economic and
social progress.

Enhancing
careers
To attract talent and to develop
our human capital, we have created
dynamic knowledge-based clusters
for information technology,
biotechnology, tourism, education
& healthcare, Islamic finance,
manufacturing and electrical and
electronic industries.

Enriching
communities
To create exemplary living standards,
we are developing quality housing,
comprehensive healthcare facilities,
safe city features and an EduCity,
which is positioned to be a regional
education hub and a destination for
quality world-class education.

Colouring life
To create a recreational haven, we are
investing a great deal in providing safe,
functional and inviting parks, trails,
playgrounds, theme parks, watersport
lagoons and other open spaces, where
people have a sense of belonging.
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About Iskandar Malaysia
Located at the southernmost tip of Peninsular Malaysia,
Iskandar Malaysia (within the state of Johor) is strategically
positioned on the world’s busiest shipping routes, and its
rich endowment of natural and human resources has both
underpinned Johor’s past successes and underscores Johor’s
future potential.

Johor’s relative prosperity has been anchored by
a celebrated history of uninterrupted and mutually
reinforcing combination of political stability
and continuity, a progressive and deeply revered
Sultanate, as well as the social and cultural cohesion
among its multi-ethnic population that has been
a constant source of strength, innovation and
renewal. Malaysia’s world-class national connectivity
infrastructure allows easy access to the domestic
economy, opportunities and resources within the
country.
Being at the heart of the Asian region and at the
crossroads of the East-West trade routes creates
lucrative opportunities from growing economies
such as Indonesia, China and India. Also with its
proximity to an international hub and Singapore,
two road connections and railway links provide
seamless accessibility to its market. Iskandar
Malaysia’s global reach is also supported by an
international airport and two world-class ports.
Covering an area of 2,217 square kilometres,
Iskandar Malaysia offers a significant supply of
land which is priced competitively. The region
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has ready infrastructure such as power utilities,
transportation networks and services, and broad
based telecommunications. The economy is well
diversified with successful clusters emerging around
the electronics, logistics, food and agriculture, tourism
and oil and petrochemical industries.
Iskandar Malaysia is populated with a multilingual
(including English) and educated workforce, providing
skilled workers ranging from the services, technical
to professional sectors. Investors and business
operators venturing into Iskandar Malaysia are able
to take advantage of the competitive cost structures
of doing business here.
Being an initiative of the Malaysian Federal
Government, along with the Johor State Government,
Iskandar Malaysia’s vision to be a strong and
sustainable metropolis of international standing has
the continued commitment, support and sponsorship
of the Governments of this country and state.
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The Five Flagship Zones
The development of Iskandar Malaysia has been strategically planned starting with five flagship zones.
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Key landmarks and developments within each flagship zone are as follows:

FLAGSHIP A

FLAGSHIP B

FLAGSHIP C

Johor Bahru City Centre

Nusajaya

Western Gate Development

FLAGSHIP D

FLAGSHIP E

Eastern Gate Development

Senai-Skudai

• New Financial District
• Danga Bay Integrated
Waterfront City
• Upgrading of Central Business District
• Tebrau-Plentong Mixed Development
• Customs, Immigration and
Quarantine Complex (CIQ)
• JB-Singapore Causeway
• Lido Boulevard

•
•
•
•
•
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Tanjung Langsat Industrial Complex
Tanjung Langsat Port
Johor Port
Pasir Gudang Industrial Park
APTEC (Lakehill Resort City)
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•
•
•
•
•

Kota Iskandar
Puteri Harbour
Medini
EduCity
Southern Industrial Logistic
Clusters (SiLC)
• Medical Park
• International Destination Resort
• Housing and Residential Projects

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Senai International Aiport
Senai Cargo Hub
Senai High-Tech Park
Sedenak Industrial Park
MSC Cyberport City
Johor Technology Park
Johor Premium Outlets®

•
•
•
•
•

Port of Tanjung Pelepas
Tanjung Bin Power Plant
Malaysia - Singapore Second Link
RAMSAR World Heritage
Tanjung Piai - Southernmost Tip
of Mainland Asia
• Free Trade Zone
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The Economic Clusters

One of many focal points for the logistics industry

The city of Johor Bahru

Iskandar Malaysia has been designated by the
Malaysian Government to be a prime hub for nine
economic clusters which will be given special focus
and offer excellent investment opportunities. These
include:

The attainment of the above-stated targets is
possible only through an Iskandar Malaysia GDP
growth of 8.0% annually until 2025. In turn, this
would require a total investment of RM382.0 billion
(USD115.7 billion) for the entire 20-year period. The
investment targets are divided as follows:

SERVICES
•
•
•
•
•
•

Financial Advisory & Consulting
Creative Industries
Logistics
Tourism
Education
Healthcare

Year

MANUFACTURING

The Aspirations
		

2005
		

GDP (PPP) in USD (billion)
GDP per capita (PPP) in USD
Employment (million)

2006–2010

RM47.0 billion

2011–2015

RM73.0 billion

2016–2020

RM107.0 billion

2021–2025

RM155.0 billion

Source: The Comprehensive Development Plan 2006–2025

• Electrical & Electronics
• Petrochemical & Oleochemical
• Food & Agro Processing

Population Size (million)

Total Investment Target

2025
(Projected)

1.4

3.0

20.0

93.3

14,790

31,100

0.61

1.27

Source: The Comprehensive Development Plan 2006–2025 and
updated as per IRDA’s latest projections

As at 31 December 2009, Iskandar Malaysia
received in aggregate, domestic and foreign direct
investments totaling RM55.56 billion (USD16.2
billion) or 118% of the target investment of RM47.0
billion (USD13.7 billion) by 2010, signalling that
Iskandar Malaysia is well on track to achieve its fiveyear target.
The Comprehensive Development Plan 2006–2025
outlines in detail the vision and development
blueprint for Iskandar Malaysia and is available on
www.iskandarmalaysia.com.my.
* Exchange rate of USD1: RM3.42 has been used throughout
the report (Source: Bank Negara Malaysia’s published rate on
31 December 2009)
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Iskandar Regional
Development Authority

The Iskandar Regional Development Authority (IRDA)
is a Malaysian Federal Government statutory body
tasked with the objective of regulating and driving
various stakeholders in both public and private sector
towards realising the vision of developing Iskandar
Malaysia into a strong and sustainable metropolis of
international standing.
IRDA’s statutory powers and functions are designed to
achieve the above objective and include the following
core functions in summary:

PLANNING
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PROMOTION
• To undertake broad-based promotion of Iskandar
Malaysia to the general public and potential
investors; both local and overseas.
• To drive, coordinate and monitor development
of economic sectors, required enablers and social
infrastructure.

FACILITATION
• To provide consultation and information on
investing in Iskandar Malaysia.

• To integrate and recommend planning policies
and strategies of the Federal Government, State
Government of Johor and relevant local authorities
relevant to enhance Iskandar Malaysia’s well-being.

• To act as the principal coordinating agent on behalf
of relevant Government agencies in relation to
receiving, processing and expediting the requisite
approvals for investors in Iskandar Malaysia.

• To identify and develop strategies to enhance
infrastructure, skills, science and technology
research in the development of Iskandar Malaysia.

• To assist existing investors in the resolution of
issues affecting their business environment.
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Vision
To create Iskandar Malaysia as the first
choice to invest, work, live and play.

Mission

• We are committed to exceeding our customers’ expectations

• We advocate best practices through partnerships & seamless delivery
• We enhance community and individual’s well-being
• We care about our natural environment
• We value our employees

Core Values
• We deliver results through leadership and teamwork

• We go the extra mile with a can-do attitude
• We nurture and value our people & acknowledge contribution
• We strive for continuous improvement through innovation
• We uphold integrity
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Co-Chairmen’s Statements
Prime Minister of Malaysia

DATO’ SRI MOHD NAJIB BIN TUN ABD RAZAK
It gives me great pleasure to share with you, the outstanding progress of the
development and investment that is being made in Iskandar Malaysia. Since
its inception, there has been a lot of discussion about the attractiveness and
viability of creating a special economic corridor.
The overall reception towards Iskandar Malaysia from
around the world has been very encouraging with 51%
of the investments coming from the local sector and the
remaining 49% coming from foreign investment.
The targeted investment commitment for 2009 was
RM44.75 billion and as of 31 December 2009 Iskandar
Malaysia has already achieved RM55.56 billion or 118%
of this targeted investment commitment for 2009.
In view of the current global economic crisis that is
affecting all areas of commerce and economy, the
progress of Iskandar Malaysia is a good indicator of
where global resources are being redirected to. It also
bodes well as it shows investor confidence in the region
and in Malaysia on the whole.

With the close cooperation going on between the state and federal
government offices and the strong positive global reception towards
Iskandar Malaysia, the indicators are positive that this region is truly on
its way to becoming a strong and sustainable metropolis of international
standing.
Building any nation is always a hard task, especially
in times of economic strife. It takes the resolve of its
citizens, the strength of its fundamentals and the
potential of its economic resources to weather the
tough times.
The development of Iskandar Malaysia is an iconic
cultural, economic monument for Malaysia that
exemplifies the drive of the rakyat to become a highincome nation.
With Iskandar Malaysia, we have been fortunate that
the undeniable potential of the project, coupled with
the right mix of talent, catalyst projects and global
acceptance, have ensured the continued growth and
progress in Southern Johor.
22
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IRDA, together with the Johor State Government, have
completed 32 blueprints which will pave the way ahead
for how Iskandar Malaysia is shaped. These blueprints
will address issues raised by the local community about
the improvement of Infrastructure, Social Development,
Safety and Security, Transportation, Employment and
even Housing.
None of this development would be possible without
the close cooperation and assistance of the state
government of Johor, thus I would like to extend my
heartfelt thanks and appreciation to the Co-Chairman
of IRDA, YAB Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman, Chief
Minister of the state of Johor Darul Takzim.
I would also like to further extend my thanks to all
the Authority Members, the CE of IRDA, En Harun bin
Haji Johari, Management and Staff of IRDA together
with the various associated members of the Federal,
State and Local Governments for their tireless efforts,
collaborations and support over the past year in
attracting investments and in developing the local
community.
With this, I am pleased to present the Iskandar Regional
Development Authority Annual Report for the year
ending 31 December 2009, together with my CoChairman, YAB Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman.

Dato’ Sri Mohd Najib bin Tun Abd Razak
Co-Chairman, IRDA,
Prime Minister of Malaysia
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Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani Bin Othman
The development of Johor state, on the whole is, has and always will be
one of my main priorities as I have been entrusted with its well-being by
the people and by the Government of Malaysia. Iskandar Malaysia, as
part of Southern Johor, holds a place especially close to my heart as it is a
vibrant metropolis that has so much potential.
The past year has seen the rate of development in
Iskandar Malaysia pick up and very soon we will be able
to see the physical improvements as a result of all our
hard work.
The number of investments coming in and the
international diversity from which these investments are
coming in from is especially encouraging as it shows the
attraction and potential we see in Johor can also be seen
by the international community.
With its strategic location and rich cultural heritage,
Johor has always stood at the crossroads of international
trade and commerce. Today, we aim to re-invigorate the
region by offering the unique advantages of Iskandar
Malaysia to the global community.

The advantage that investors will reap out of Iskandar Malaysia is a
solid and stable government, a ready-built world-class infrastructure,
a developed human capital and talent market and best of all, room to
expand, both literally and figuratively.

The people of Johor likewise will enjoy increased wages,
more customers, better and increased lifestyle options,
higher levels and standards of education and most
importantly better and more sustainable future for
generations to come.
With an increased effort in international and local
marketing, Iskandar Malaysia has become increasingly
exposed to the business community. This awareness has
been reflected in the 2009 investment figures which are
ahead of our 2009 target by 24%.
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To better handle the influx of queries, the Iskandar
Service Centre, which is Iskandar Malaysia’s one-stop
license, permits and incentives processing centre, has
been working hand-in-hand with the local and state
government offices to ensure that any submissions
or processing requirements by investors, partners and
developers are attended to effectively and efficiently.
The Safety and Security initiatives launched in 2009
have seen more police on the streets, as well as the
upcoming opening of Community Police Posts (CPP)
in various neighbourhoods. Following suit will be the
implementation of CCTVs throughout Iskandar Malaysia
so that the police can have more “eyes in the sky” to help
them monitor safety in Iskandar Malaysia effectively.
Coming very soon for next year will be the launch of the
new Bus Iskandar Malaysia which will see 16 social routes
throughout Iskandar Malaysia. This bus system is also a
precursor of a completely new public transport system
that will be initiated soon.
My heartfelt thanks goes out to all the Authority
Members, the CE of IRDA, En. Harun Bin Haji Johari,
Management and Staff of IRDA together with the various
associated members of the Federal, State and Local
Governments for their tireless efforts, collaborations and
support over the past year in attracting investments and
in developing the local community.
As Chief Minister of Johor and Co-Chairman of IRDA, I
am honoured that I am able to extend my gratitude to
the Prime Minister of Malaysia, Co-Chairman of IRDA,
Dato’ Sri Mohd Najib bin Tun Abd Razak for his continued
support and guidance for Iskandar Malaysia.
With this, I am pleased to present the Iskandar Regional
Development Authority Annual Report for the year
ending 31 December 2009.

Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman
Co-Chairman, IRDA,
Chief Minister of Johor
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Chief Executive of IRDA

En. Harun BIN HAJi Johari
As we greet another year with keen anticipation, I would like to first express
my gratitude for having been given the opportunity to work with esteemed
peers and colleagues in serving Iskandar Malaysia. It truly has been an
honour to play a role in propelling Iskandar Malaysia towards its vision of
becoming a strong and sustainable metropolis of international standing.
I would also like to thank the team at IRDA for
persevering through the tough times and for rising up
to the challenges brought about by the global economic
crisis. Despite that, Iskandar Malaysia has managed to
secure committed investments amounting to RM55.56
billion, which exceeds our 2009 target of RM44.75
billion by 24%!
This continued growth in investments demonstrates
the continued acceptance and growing confidence by
the global business community towards the concept
and viability of Iskandar Malaysia as a destination to
Invest, Work, Live and Play.
Hugely instrumental towards this progress has been
the close cooperation and collaboration between
the Federal, State and Local Government agencies in
assisting our myriad of international and local investors
in developing their interests with the greatest of ease.

We need to maintain the momentum we have developed and continue
our drive forward with our efforts of transforming Iskandar Malaysia into
a region that offers unlimited opportunities for the current and future
generations who will Invest, Work, Live and Play in Iskandar Malaysia.
The development of Iskandar Malaysia is very much a
yardstick for how the rest of the world views Malaysia.
Iskandar Malaysia is an example of how we, as a region
and as a country, are moving forward as a nation.
In summary, the Achievements and Outcomes for the
past year include:
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• The completion of RMK-9 Projects such as the Road
Projects and River Cleaning and Drainage together
with the completion of the blueprints for:
- Strategic Investment & Marketing
- Iskandar Malaysia Tourism
- Iskandar Malaysia Human Capital
- Iskandar Housing Management
- Integrated Land Use
- Planning and Design Guidelines for Housing
- Planning and Design Guidelines for
		 Neighbourhood Design
- Planning and Design Guidelines for Public Facilities
- Master plan for sewerage and wastewater treatment
- ICT and Telecommunication
• Our participation in local and international
promotional activities such as WIEF (UK), Iskandar
Johor Open, Cityscape Dubai, Iskandar Malaysia Open
Day, Media Treasure Hunt, Billboards at Senai Airport
and KLIA, revamped website, corporate video, and
print ads in international media such as Forbes and
Going Places have managed to promote our brand on
a global scale and to an international audience from
different aspects of industry and businesses.
• The securing of investments for Iskandar Malaysia
amounting to RM55.56 billion, exceeding the
2009 target of RM44.75 billion by 24%, is a strong
indicator towards the international acceptance, trust
and commercial viability of the development of the
region.
• 2009 also marks a turning point in terms of IRDA’s
3 Phase Developmental Plan. We have been so
far, taking Iskandar Malaysia through Phase 1
(2007-2009), planning and building the foundation,
targeting catalyst investments, developing the
blueprints and laying the foundation for the
developments to come in Iskandar Malaysia. From
2010, we will move into Phase 2 (2010-2015),
strengthening and generating growth, targeting
matured and sustainable investments.
• IRDA’s revamped website has received a lot of positive
feedback and together with the Iskandar Service
Centre offer a central point of information where
visitors can find out more information about the roles
and functions of Iskandar Regional Development

Authority as well as information and updates about
Iskandar Malaysia.
• Our Human Capital Blueprint team also successfully
launched the HCB Blueprint which has resulted in
companies operating within Iskandar Malaysia being
able to post their Human Resource requirements online
while the rakyat of Iskandar Malaysia now have the
opportunity to register for and apply for job vacancies
within the region.
• The IRDA team has also continued to grow and now
stands at 167 strong, an addition of 64 from last year,
increasing the workforce by 62%.
I am also extremely enthralled by the fresh talent,
professionalism and enthusiasm that has come along
with the influx of talent which will undoubtedly
have a spillover effect of increasing IRDA’s drive and
productivity. In reference to the IRDA Business Plan for
2009, the corporate KPIs were focused on:
• Increasing Customer Satisfaction
• Increasing International Branding Activities
• Successful implementation of the Call Centre
• Successful Engagement with Stakeholders from the
various Stakeholder groups
• Engagement with related agencies related to the
development and progress of Iskandar Malaysia
Our main aim for 2009 has been focusing on results.
Results in terms of Investments secured. Results in
terms of Blueprints completed. Results in terms of
initiatives that are ready-to-roll. With our results-focused
activities, every action can be recorded, measured and
improved upon.
With this, I am proud to share that for our 2009 Annual
Report, our results have been outstanding and we have
exceeded the set expectations and commitments by
leaps and bounds.

En. Harun bin Haji Johari
Chief Executive, IRDA
Annual Report 2009
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Members of the Authority and Committees
Member’s Profile

Objectives Of The Authority (IRDA)
The Iskandar Regional Development Authority was established by an
Act of Parliament, Iskandar Regional Development Authority Act 2007.
Section 4 of the Act states that the objective of IRDA is ‘to develop the
Iskandar Development Region into a Strong and Sustainable Metropolis of
International Standing’.
As stipulated by Part II of the IRDA Act 2007, IRDA is
governed by a board officially known as the Authority.
The primary responsibility of the Authority includes
but is not limited to the setting of strategies, directions
and policies relating to the development within
Iskandar Malaysia and other functions in connection
therewith.
The Authority is co-chaired by the Prime Minister
of Malaysia and the Chief Minister of the State
of Johor. The other six members of the authority
comprise two representatives each from the federal
government, state government and private sector.
The Members are to hold office for a term not exceeding
two years and are eligible for reappointment for a
maximum period of three consecutive terms.

MEMBERS OF THE AUTHORITY
The Authority is assisted by an Executive Committee
(EXCO) which consists of six (6) Members appointed
by the Authority. The day-to-day administration of
IRDA is entrusted to the Chief Executive. The Authority
met twice, in July and November in the year under
review, 2009. There are eight members in total.
The Co-Chairmen, Members and Secretary of the
Authority are:

The Co-Chairmen
• Dato’ Sri Mohd Najib bin Tun Abdul Razak
Prime Minister of Malaysia
• Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman
Chief Minister of the State of Johor, Malaysia
Two Representatives from Federal Government
• Tan Sri Dr. Wan Abdul Aziz bin Wan Abdullah
Secretary-General, Treasury, Ministry of Finance
• Dato’ Noriyah binti Ahmad
Director-General, Economic Planning Unit,
Prime Minister’s Department
• Dato’ Dr. Ali bin Hamsa
Director General, Public Private Partnership Unit
(3PU) (Rep. to Dato’ Noriyah)
Two Representatives from Johor State Government
• Dato’ Haji Abd. Latiff bin Yusof
State Secretary, State Government, Johor
• Dato’ Hamsan bin Saringat
Director, State Economic Planning Unit (UPEN),
Johor
Two Professional Representatives
• Tan Sri Dato’ Azman bin Haji Mokhtar
Managing Director, Khazanah Nasional Berhad
• Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Kay Hock
Chairman and Chief Executive,
Johan Holdings Berhad
Secretary
• En. Harun bin Haji Johari
Chief Executive, IRDA
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DATO’ SRI MOHD NAJIB BIN
TUN ABDUL RAZAK
Dato’ Sri Mohd Najib bin Tun Abdul Razak is the
Prime Minister of Malaysia and Minister of Finance.
Prior to the premiership, Dato’ Sri Mohd Najib was the
Deputy Prime Minister of Malaysia since 2004. He was
appointed twice as the Minister of Defence from 1990
to 1995 and from 1999 to 2008.
Other cabinet ministerial posts held were Minister of
Education (1995–1999), Minister of Youth and Sports
(1987–1990) and Minister of Culture, Youth and
Sports (1986–1987). He also served as Chief Minister
of Pahang from 1982 to 1986. Prior to that, he was
the Deputy Minister of Finance (1981–1982), Deputy
Minister of Education (1980–1981) and Deputy
Minister of Energy, Telecommunications and Posts
(1978–1980).
Dato’ Sri Mohd Najib pursued his tertiary education
at the University of Nottingham, UK where he
graduated in 1974 in industrial economics.

DATO’ HAJI ABDUL GHANI BIN OTHMAN
Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani is the Chief Minister of the
State of Johor, a position that he has held since 1995.
Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani was previously the Minister
of Youth and Sports at the Federal Government-level
(1993–1995). Prior to that, he was the Deputy Minister
of Finance (1990–1993) and Deputy Minister of Energy,
Telecommunications and Post (1987–1990).

dato’ sri mohd najib bin
tun abdUL razak

Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani was a Colombo Plan scholar
and graduated with an Honours Degree in Economics
from La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia and
a Master’s Degree in Political Economy from the
University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia. He was
conferred an Honorary Doctorate of Laws by La Trobe
University in 1998.

TAN SRI DR. WAN ABDUL AZIZ BIN WAN
ABDULLAH
Tan Sri Dr. Wan Abdul Aziz is the Secretary-General,
Treasury, Ministry of Finance, a post he assumed in
February, 2007. He served various divisions in the
Prime Minister’s Department and Ministry of Finance
since 1975. He was appointed the alternate Executive
Director, World Bank Group, Washington DC, USA
(on secondment from the Government of Malaysia)
representing Brunei Darussalam, Fiji, Indonesia, Laos
PDR, Malaysia, Nepal, Singapore, Thailand, Tonga and
Vietnam.
He is currently on the board of various organisations
such as Federal Land Development Authority (FELDA),
the Retirement Trust Fund (KWAP), MISC Berhad,
Inland Revenue Board, Malaysia Airlines System Berhad
and Petroliam Nasional Berhad, to name a few.
Tan Sri Dr. Wan Abdul Aziz graduated with a Bachelor
of Economics (Hons) in Applied Economics from the
University of Malaya. He pursued his Master’s in
Philosophy (Development Studies) at the University
of Sussex, UK and later his Ph.D (Business Economics)
from the University of Leeds, UK.

DATO’ HAJI ABDUL GHANI BIN OTHMAN

TAN SRI DR. WAN ABDUL AZIZ BIN WAN
ABDULLAH
Annual Report 2009

31

Members of the Authority and Committees
Member’s Profile

DATO’ NORIYAH BINTI AHMAD
Dato’ Noriyah is the Director-General of the
Economic Planning Unit (EPU) of the Prime Minister’s
Department. Prior to her appointment in June 2009,
Dato’ Noriyah held the positions of Deputy DirectorGeneral (2005–2009) and Senior Director (2003–
2005) of the Economic Planning Unit. Before that, she
served in the Ministry of Energy, Communications and
Multimedia from 1998 to 2003, and in the Ministry of
Domestic Trade and Consumer Affairs from 1993 to
1998.
Dato’ Noriyah holds a Degree in Applied Economics
(Hons) from the University of Malaya and a Degree in
Development Economics from the University of Kent,
UK.

DATO’ DR. ALI BIN HAMSA
Dato’ Dr. Ali is the Director General of the newly
established Public Private Partnership Unit (3PU) in
the Prime Minister’s Department. At 3PU, Dato’ Dr.
Ali is responsible for privatisation and private finance
initiative projects, public private partnerships,
facilitation funds, regional development through
Corridor initiatives and energy projects implemented
by independent power producers. Prior to that, he
served in various positions in a number of public sector
agencies including the Ministry of International Trade
and Industry, Ministry of Transport, INTAN and the
Economic Planning Unit from 1981 to April 2009.

DATO’ NORIYAH BINTI AHMAD
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Dato’ Dr. Ali is also actively involved in the development
of various statutory bodies in his capacity as a board
member. These include the Penang Port Commission,
Energy Commission and Johor Corporation (JCorp).
Dato’ Dr. Ali graduated from the University of Malaya
in 1979 with a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) degree. In
1986, he obtained a Master in Science (Economics)
from Oklahoma State University, USA, and a Ph.D.
in Environmental Economics in 1997 from the same
University.

DATO’ HAjI ABDUL LATIFF BIN YUSOF
Dato’ Haji Abd. Latiff has been the State Secretary of
Johor since October, 2006. Prior to his appointment
as State Secretary, he was the Mayor of Johor Bahru.
He also held various positions including District
Officer for the districts of Mersing, Kluang and Muar,
respectively. He also served as Secretary of the Johor
City Council.
In the year 2000, Dato’ Haji Abd. Latiff was appointed
Chairman (Yang Dipertua) of Batu Pahat Town Council.
He has previously served as Private Secretary to the
Chief Minister of Johor.
Dato’ Haji Abd. Latiff holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree
from the University of Malaya.

DATO’ HAJI ABD. LATIFF BIN YUSOF
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DATO’ HAMSAN BIN SARINGAT
Dato’ Hamsan has been the Director of Economic
Planning Unit, State of Johor since 2006. Prior to this
appointment, he was the District Officer for Pontian
(2005–2006) and Batu Pahat (February–December
2006). Dato’ Hamsan also served as the Deputy
Financial Officer of Johor (January–December 2004).
Dato’ Hamsan began his service in the Johor Civil
Service in 1976 and has been serving the Johor State
Government for 30 years.
Dato’ Hamsan holds a Bachelor of Economics Degree
(Hons) from the University of Malaya.

TAN SRI Dato’ AZMAN BIN HAjI
MOKHTAR
Tan Sri Dato’ Azman is the Managing Director of
Khazanah Nasional Berhad (Khazanah), the strategic
investment arm of the Government of Malaysia. Prior
to his appointment in June, 2004, he was Managing
Director and co-founder of BinaFikir Sdn Bhd, a
financial consultancy; Director, Head of Country
Research, Salomon Smith Barney Malaysia and
Director, Head of Research, Union Bank of Switzerland,
Malaysia. Before that, he held various positions in
Tenaga Nasional Berhad (TNB, formerly known as
National Electricity Board, LLN).

DATO’ HAMSAN BIN SARINGAT

Tan Sri Dato’ Azman is the Chairman of Iskandar
Investment Berhad, Axiata Group Berhad (formerly
known as TM International Berhad), Valuecap Sdn Bhd
and holds various board memberships including UEM
Berhad.
He serves on various public service bodies including
the Advisory Board for Cluster of Excellence Schools,
the Board of Governors of the Malay College, Kuala
Kangsar, the Malaysian Directors Academy, Yayasan
Khazanah and the Executive Committee of Malaysia
International Islamic Financial Centre (MIFC). He is
also a member of the Kuala Lumpur Business Club,
the Asia Business Council and the INSEAD East Asia
Council.
He obtained his Master’s of Philosophy in Development
Studies from Darwin College, Cambridge University,
UK. He is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (ACCA) and a Chartered
Financial Analyst (CFA). He also holds a post-graduate
Diploma in Islamic Studies from the International
Islamic University, Malaysia.

TAN SRI Dato’ AZMAN BIN MOKHTAR

Annual Report 2009

33

Members of the Authority and Committees
Member’s Profile

TAN SRI DATO’ TAN KAY HOCK

HARUN BIN HAJI JOHARI

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Kay Hock is a lawyer by training,
having been called to the Bar by Lincoln’s Inn, UK in
1971. In 1972, he was admitted as an advocate and
solicitor to the Supreme Court of Malaysia.

Harun joined IRDA as Executive Director in October
2008 and was appointed Chief Executive on 1 March
2009 upon the retirement of Dato’ Ikmal Hijaz Hashim
at the end of February 2009.

He is the Chairman and Chief Executive of Johan
Holdings Berhad and a Non-Executive Chairman
of George Kent (Malaysia) Berhad, both listed on
Malaysian Bourse (Bursa Malaysia) as well as a
Non-Executive Chairman of Jacks International Ltd,
a public company listed on the Singapore Exchange
Trading Limited.

Previously, he was the Chief Executive of Port of
Tanjung Pelepas (PTP), a leading container port in
Malaysia. Harun was also on the boards of several joint
venture companies and a public-listed company in the
Asia Pacific region.

He also sits on the Malaysian-Philippines Business
Council and the Steering Committee of ASEAN-Japan
Business Meeting.
In addition to that, he is a trustee of the Malaysian
Humanitarian Foundation.

TAN SRI DATO’ TAN KAY HOCK
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Prior to his stint in PTP, Harun had over 25 years
experience in the oil and gas industry with a leading
multinational corporation, which included senior
leadership positions with responsibility for 15
countries within the Asia Pacific region before
advancing to be the Advisor for Health, Safety and
Environment for the same organisation.

HARUN Bin HAJI JOHARI
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THE ADVISORY COUNCIL
The Advisory Council was established by resolution at the First Authority Meeting,
February, 2007.
The Council consists of eminent Malaysians and foreign nationals who are, in the
view of the Prime Minister with the concurrence of the Chief Minister of Johor, in the
position to provide advice and guidance to promote the aspirations of Iskandar Malaysia
as a metropolis of international standing. The Council met once in December for the
year under review. There are presently five members in total.

MEMBERS OF THE ADVISORY COUNCIL

TUN MUSA HITAM
Before becoming Malaysia’s fifth Deputy Prime
Minister and Minister of Home Affairs (1981–1986),
Tun Musa Hitam held a number of key government
posts, including Chairman of Federal Land
Development Authority (FELDA), Deputy Minister of
Trade & Industry, Ministry of Primary Industries and
Minister of Education. Between 1990 and 1991, he
was Malaysia’s Special Envoy to the United Nations
and from 1995 to 2002, the Prime Minister’s Special
Envoy to the Commonwealth Ministerial Action
Group (CMAG). He led Malaysia’s delegation to the
UN Commission on Human Rights from 1993 to 1998
and Chairman of the 52nd Session of the Commission
in 1995.
Tun Musa Hitam has held posts at the international
level at various times. These included Chairman of the
Commonwealth Parliamentary Association, member
of the Board of United Nations Educational, Scientific

and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) and leader
of various Commonwealth Missions. Tun Musa is
currently Chairman of three public-listed companies,
i.e. Lion Industries Berhad, UM Land Berhad and Sime
Darby Berhad. He is also a Joint Chairman of MalaysiaChina Business Council, Chairman of the World Islamic
Economic Forum, Chairman of the Eminent Persons
Group on the ASEAN Charter and Special Envoy of the
Commonwealth Secretary-General to the Maldives.
Tun Musa Hitam received his Bachelor of Arts Degree
from the University of Malaya, a Master’s Degree
from the University of Sussex, UK and is a Fellow at
the CFIA, Harvard University, USA. He also holds
Honorary Doctorates from the University of Sussex,
UK; University Malaysia Sabah and the University
of Malaya. He is a Fellow of the Malaysian Institute
of Management and Member of the Advisory Board
of the Malaysian Journal of Diplomacy and Foreign
Relations.
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MEMBERS OF THE ADVISORY COUNCIL

TAN SRI SAMSUDIN OSMAN

Tan Sri Kishu Tirathrai

Tan Sri Samsudin is presently the Chairman of the
Employee Provident Fund and the President of
Putrajaya Corporation. Tan Sri Samsudin has over 37
years of experience in the public sector. From Febuary
2001 until September 2006, he served as the Chief
Secretary to the Government of Malaysia. Prior to
that, Tan Sri Samsudin was the Director-General of
Public Services Department.

Tan Sri Kishu is currently a Court Fellow with the
Malaysian Institute of Management, Fellow of the
Malaysian Institute of Directors, Advisory Council
Member to the Corporate Malaysia Roundtable
and a member of the Malaysia-British Panel of the
Roundtable.

Other positions held were Secretary-General, Ministry
of Home Affairs; Secretary-General, Ministry of
Domestic Trade and Consumer Affairs; Federal Secretary
of Sabah (1990); Deputy Secretary-General, Ministry of
Transport (1978); Deputy Director (Academic), National
Public Administration Institute (INTAN) (1986–1987);
Deputy Director (Administration), INTAN (1985–1986);
Head of Finance and Account Management Centre,
INTAN (1982); Special Officer to the Chief Secretary
to the Government of Malaysia (1977) and Assistant
Secretary/Principal Assistant Secretary, Public Service
Department (1969).
Tan Sri Samsudin has a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) and
a Diploma in Public Administration from the
University of Malaya and a Master’s Degree in Public
Administration from Pennsylvania State University,
USA.
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He has served as Director of Bank Negara Malaysia,
the National Productivity Corporation and the
Malaysian Industry - Government Group for High
Technology.
He was the Founding Chairman of the Malaysian
External Trade Development Corporation (MATRADE)
and an Exco Member of the Malaysian Crime
Prevention Foundation.
He has also served as a Director of the Malaysian
Industrial Development Corporation (MIDF),
Sampoerna Holdings Bhd and the KL City ASMIC
Unit Trust Management Bhd.
Tan Sri Kishu holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration (Hons) from the University of Bath,
UK.
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MEMBERS OF THE ADVISORY COUNCIL

DATUK SERI PANGLIMA ANDREW L.T.
SHENG
Datuk Seri Panglima Andrew is presently the Chief
Advisor to the China Banking Regulatory Commission
and a board member of the Qatar Financial Centre
Regulatory Authority and Sime Darby Berhad,
Malaysia. He is also Adjunct Professor at the Graduate
School of Economics and Management, Tsinghua
University, Beijing, China PRC and the University
of Malaya.
In addition, he is a member of the Labuan Offshore
Financial Services Authority, Malaysia (LOFSA), the
Governing Council of the International Centre for
Education in Islamic Finance, Malaysia (INCEIF) and
the Advisory Council of the National Institute of
Securities Market, India (NISM).

KUOK HOCK NIEN (ROBERT KUOK)
Mr. Kuok is the Chairman of Kerry Group Ltd. He
retired from most of his businesses in 2000.
The Kuok Group of Companies are active in
commodity trading, development of sugar and
palm-oil plantations, property development including
hotels and their management, logistics, shipping,
insurance and general investments.
The Group consists of a few private companies and
a number of public-listed companies in Malaysia,
Singapore, Hong Kong, China PRC, Thailand and the
Philippines.

Datuk Seri Panglima Andrew was Chairman of the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
from October 1998 to September 2005. Between
October 1993 and September 1998, he was the
Deputy Chief Executive responsible for the Reserves
Management and External Affairs Department in
Hong Kong Authority. Between 1989 and 1993, he was
Senior Manager of the Financial Sector Development
Department, World Bank. From 1976 to 1989, he held
various positions with Bank Negara Malaysia, including
Chief Economist and Assistant Governor in charge of
Bank and Insurance Regulations.
Datuk Seri Panglima Andrew chaired the Financial
Stability Forum’s Task Force on Implementation of
Standards in 1999. From October 2003 to September
2005, he chaired the Technical Committee of the
International Organisation of Securities Commissions
(IOSCO). He currently chairs the annual OECD/ADBI
Roundtable on Capital Market Reform in Asia.
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EXCO members
Chairman
Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman –  
Chief Minister of Johor

MEMBERS
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Dato’ Haji Abd. Latiff bin
Yusof – State Secretary
of Johor

Dato’ Noriyah
binti Ahmad –
Director-General,
Economic Planning Unit
(Represented by Dato’
Dr. Ali bin Hamsa,
Director-General, Public
Private Partnership Unit
(3PU))

Tan Sri Dr. Wan Abdul
Aziz bin Wan Abdullah –
Secretary-General

En. Harun bin
Haji Johari – CE, IRDA

Dr. Nungsari bin Ahmad
Radhi – Executive
Director, Research and
Investment Strategy,
Khazanah Nasional
Berhad

En. Hilmi bin Mohd
Nashir – COO, IRDA

Members of the Authority and Committees
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IRDA COMMITTEES
MALAYSIA-SINGAPORE JOINT MINISTERIAL COMMITTEE (JMC)

Current members of the JMC are :

CO-CHAIRMEN
• Tan Sri Nor Mohamed bin Yakcop – Minister in the
Prime Minister’s Department, Malaysia
• Mr. Mah Bow Tan – Minister, Ministry of National
Development, Singapore

MEMBERS
• Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman –
Chief Minister of Johor, Malaysia
• Mr. Raymond Lim – Minister, Ministry of Transport,
Singapore

JOINT SECRETARIES
• Dato’ Dr. Ali bin Hamsa – Director General,
Public Private Partnership Unit, Prime Minister’s
Department, Malaysia
• En. Harun bin Haji Johari – CE, IRDA
• Ms. Chang Hwee Nee – Deputy Secretary,
Ministry of National Development, Singapore

NOTABLE ACHIEVEMENTS 2009
The JMC reviewed the progress made by the four joint
work groups on Immigration, Transportation, Tourism
and Environment and was satisfied with progress
made in bilateral co-operation on several fronts.
In the 4th Meeting in April 2009, the Malaysian
Immigration announced the implementation of
Malaysia Automated Clearance System (MACS). The

implementation will be in phases, include biometric
verifying, autogates for non-motorists and fast track
lanes for frequent travellers.
The Tourism Workgroup also implemented a series of
media familiarisation activities to promote tourism in
Malaysia and Singapore and to step up joint marketing
efforts.
The JMC affirmed the importance of enhancing
transport links between both regions and agreed in
principle to increase/double the quota of cross border
bus services to facilitate more scheduled operations
between Johor and Singapore.
Several meetings and regular exchange of expertise
between Malaysia and Singapore in river cleaning
were held. An action plan to clean up three (3) rivers in
Iskandar Malaysia was also being developed.
In the 5th Meeting in November 2009, JMC formed
a new work group (Iconic Project Workgroup) to
study the joint development of an iconic project in
Iskandar Malaysia.
A study has been commissioned to assess the
feasibility of nature sites for joint tourism
development. The study sites are Sungai Pulai,
Tanjung Piai and Pulau Kukup, collectively known as
the RAMSAR Sites in Iskandar Malaysia and Sungei
Buloh Wetland Reserve in Singapore.
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IRDA COMMITTEES
APPROVALs & IMPLEMENTATION COMMITTEE (AIC)
Pursuant to AIC roles and functions, the following
was established:
• Iskandar Incentives Committee. The committee
is chaired by the CE of Iskandar Regional
Development Authority (IRDA) and its permanent
members are from MOF, MIDA and MITI.
It serves a dual-purpose:
a. To evaluate and recommend to the Minister of
Finance, applications for Approved Developer,
Approved Development Manager and IDR Status
Companies in Node 1.
b. To evaluate and recommend to the Minister of
Finance, applications for customised fiscal
incentives for investors outside Node 1.
Proposed guidelines were adopted to facilitate,
streamline and standardise timelines for approval
processes with five Local Councils (PBT’s) within
Iskandar Malaysia. This resulted in a Service
Level Agreement (SLA) with them for a 30-day
approval process for all development applications
through the Iskandar Service Centre (ISC).
Projects presented in the AIC meeting for fiscal and
non-fiscal incentives were as follows:
a. Johor Premium Outlets® by Genting Bhd and
Simon Chelsea Property Group
b. Puteri Harbour by UEM Land Sdn. Bhd.
c. Tanjung Bin Petrochemical and Maritime
Industrial Park by PTP Sdn. Bhd.
d. Asia Petroleum Hub by KIC Oil & Gas Sdn. Bhd.
AIC is chaired by Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman,
Chief Minister of Johor and members consist of
representatives from federal and state agencies.

CHAIRMAN
• Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman - Chief Minister
of Johor, Malaysia

MEMBERS
• En. Harun bin Haji Johari – CE, IRDA
• Senior Representative – Ministry of Finance
• Senior Representative – Companies Commission
of Malaysia (CCM)
• Senior Representative – Ministry of Home Affairs
• Senior Representative – Ministry of International
Trade & Industry (MITI)
• Senior Representative – Ministry of Natural
Resources & Environment
• Senior Representative – Malaysian Industrial
Development Authority (MIDA)
• Senior Representative – Economic Planning Unit
(EPU), Prime Minister’s Department
• Senior Representative – Public Private Partnership
	Unit (3PU)
• Senior Representative – State Economic Planning
	Unit (UPEN), Johor
• Senior Representative – Ministry of Works
• State Director of Department of Lands and Mines,
Johor
• State Town & Country Planning Director, Johor
• IRDA Federal Commissioner
• IRDA State Commissioner
• Presidents of all local councils in Iskandar Malaysia,
Johor
- Mayor of JB City Council, Johor
- President of JB Tengah Town Council, Johor
- President of Pasir Gudang Town Council, Johor
- President of Kulai Town Council, Johor
- President of Pontian District Council, Johor

SECRETARY
• Iskandar Service Centre, IRDA
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THE SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE (SDC)

The Chairman, Members and Joint Secretaries of the
SDC are:

• Dato’ Haji Abd. Latiff bin Yusof – State Secretary
of Johor
• Dato’ Hamsan bin Saringat – State
Economic Planning Unit (UPEN)
• Tuan Haji Mohd Azam bin Abid – Department
of Town and Country Planning, Johor
• En. Mohd Hatta bin Nordin – Johor State
Development
• Tan Sri Dato’ Azman bin Haji Mokhtar – Khazanah
Nasional Berhad
• Tan Sri Dato’ Mohammad Ali Haji Hashim –  
Johor Corporation
• En. Harun bin Haji Johari – CE, IRDA

CHAIRMAN

JOINT SECRETARIES

• Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman – Co-Chairman
of IRDA, Malaysia

• Social Development Division, IRDA
• State Economic Planning Unit (UPEN), Johor

The Social Development Committee was formed in
2007 to advise IRDA on matters relating to policies,
procedures and implementation of social development
programmes in Iskandar Malaysia.
Chaired by the Co-Chairman of the Authority, the
Chief Minister of Johor, the members of the SDC
comprise representatives from the Federal Ministries,
State Agencies and Government-Linked Companies
(GLCs). There are 11 members in total.

MEMBERS
• Datuk Dr. Zulkefli bin A. Hassan – Ministry
of Higher Education
• Dato’ Ahmad bin Haji Kabit – Ministry
of Housing and Local Government
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IRDA COMMITTEES
SOCIAL PROJECT FUND COMMITTEE (SPF)
The Social Project Fund Committee was established
to ensure that funds are utilised in accordance
with the provisions of the Act as well as the
Comprehensive Development Plan (CDP).

CHAIRMAN

• En. Harun bin Haji Johari – CE, IRDA
• Dato’ Ghazali bin Mohd Ali – Private Sector
Representative, Boustead Group Managing Director

SECRETARY
• Social Development Division, IRDA

• Dato’ Dr. Haji Shahir bin Nasir (former State
Secretary of Johor)

MEMBERS
• Dato’ Haji Abd. Latiff bin Yusof – State Secretary
of Johor
• Dato’ Hamsan bin Saringat – Director, State
Economic Planning Unit (UPEN), Johor

ISKANDAR MALAYSIA STEERING COMMITTEE (IMSC)
The Iskandar Malaysia Steering Committee was set
up with the following objectives:
• Provide executive governance and oversight on
Iskandar Malaysia
• Provide strategy and direction on Iskandar
Malaysia
• Resolve key issues and make key decisions on
Iskandar Malaysia

MEMBERS

CO-CHAIRMEN

Joint SECRETARies

• Tan Sri Dato’ Azman bin Haji Mokhtar – Managing
Director, Khazanah Nasional Berhad
• En. Harun bin Haji Johari – CE, IRDA
• Pn. Arlida Ariff – Iskandar Investment Berhad (IIB)
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• En. Adlan Ahmad – Iskandar Investment
Berhad (IIB)
• Mr. Ganen Sarvananthan – Khazanah
Nasional Berhad
• En. Hilmi Mohd. Nashir – IRDA
• Dr. Nungsari Ahmad Radhi – Khazanah
Nasional Berhad

• Programme Management Office (PMO), IRDA
• Programme Management Office (PMO), IIB

Iskandar Malaysia & IRDA
IRDA’s Organisation

IRDA’s Organisation
42
Senior Management Team
47	Organisation Structure
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Senior Management Team
HARUN BIN HAJI JOHARI

MISRAN BIN BASIR

Chief Executive

Federal Commissioner

Harun joined IRDA as Executive Director in October
2008 and was appointed Chief Executive on 1 March
2009 upon the retirement of Dato’ Ikmal Hijaz Hashim
at the end of February 2009.

Misran joined IRDA on 16 March 2009 as a Federal
Commissioner. He was an administrative and
Diplomatic Service Officer attached with the
Economic Planning Unit, Prime Ministers
Department. His last position was the Director
of Foreign Investment Committee (FIC), Economic
Planning Unit.

He graduated with a B.Sc. (Hons) in Mechanical
Engineering from the University of Western Australia.
Previously, he was the Chief Executive of Port of
Tanjung Pelepas (PTP), a leading container port in
Malaysia. Harun was also on the boards of several
joint-venture companies and a public-listed company
in the Asia Pacific region. Prior to his stint in PTP,
Harun had over 25 years experience in the oil and gas
industry with a leading multinational corporation,
which included senior leadership positions with
responsibility for 15 countries within the Asia Pacific
region before advancing to be the Advisor for Health,
Safety and Environment for the same organisation.

HILMI BIN MOHD NASHIR
Chief Operating Officer
Hilmi who joined IRDA in February 2009 has a
Degree in Economics (Hons), majoring in Analytical
Economics from the University of Malaya in 1979.
Hilmi previously was the Managing Director/CEO
of MISC Integrated Logistics Sdn. Bhd. and held
directorships in several international joint-venture
companies having operations in Malaysia, Singapore,
Sri Lanka, United Arab Emirates and Sudan. He was
also a member of the MISC Management Committee.
He joined PETRONAS in 1979 and remained with the
PETRONAS Group of Companies for 29 years, 7 of
which were at MISC Berhad. He held several senior
positions within PETRONAS with multiple roles and
experience ranging from Project Evaluation, Internal
Audit, Tenders and Contracts, Vendor Development,
Treasury Operations and Project Management.

44

Annual Report 2009

He graduated with an Honours degree from the
University of Malaya in 1975. He held various
positions in EPU and was largely involved in
the planning, budgeting, implementing and
monitoring of the infrastructure, privatisation
and regional economic projects as well as in the
preparation of the five year development plan
documents.
As the Director of Regional Economics, he was
largely involved in the planning, project approvals
as well as the development budget for the Iskandar
Development Region / Iskandar Malaysia during the
preparation of the Ninth Malaysia Plan.
He was also involved in the early stage of the
establishment of Iskandar Regional Development
Authority (IRDA). As the Director of FIC, he was
directly involved in the acquisition of property and
shares submitted by investors/developers in Iskandar
Malaysia.
He was also conferred the Ahli Mangku Negara (AMN)
in 1997.

IRDA’s Organisation
Senior Management Team

DR. BADRUL HISHAM KASSIM

MUHD FIRDAUS AZHARUDDIN

State Commissioner

Head, Business Transformation

Dr. Badrul is a Johor State Officer and currently holds
the post of Deputy Director of the State’s Economic
Planning Unit (UPEN).

Muhd Firdaus joined IRDA on 20 August 2007. He is
the head of Strategic Transition Management and
oversees the programme management office and
Shaping Iskandar Malaysia (SIM).

Since joining the Johor State Civil Service in 1992,
Dr. Badrul has served in several departments including
Assistant State Secretary, Johor State Secretariat
(1992–1995); Manager, Permodalan Darul Ta’zim
(1995–1999); Assistant Land Administrator (1999–
2000); Private Secretary to the Chief Minister of
Johor (2000); and Principal Assistant Director, Johor
Economic Planning Unit (2005–2006).
He was seconded to Khazanah Nasional Berhad in
2006–2007, and is currently the Deputy Director,
Johor Economic Planning Unit, with part secondment
to IRDA from 1 August 2007 till now.

Muhd Firdaus has over 13 years of experience in the
courier and logistics industry, specialising in logistics
start-ups, business process re-engineering and general
operations.
Prior to IRDA, Muhd Firdaus was the Chief Operating
Officer of Poslaju and AsiaXpress, the two arms of Pos
Malaysia for three years.
Before that, he was the Regional Supply Chain Director
for Cognis Oleo Chemicals. His logistics and courier
profession began in 1995 when he joined FedEx
Malaysia.

ZAINOL RASHID BIN ZAINUDDIN
Head, Technical & Projects
Zainol Rashid joined IRDA on 1 June 2007. He holds
a Degree in Business Administration from the
University of Bath, UK. He is responsible for the
planning and implementation of the Ninth Malaysia
Plan projects, and also assists and provides technical
support to the other Divisions within IRDA.
Prior to joining IRDA, he was a business development
and project management consultant. He also sat on
the board of several private limited companies.
In a career spanning 30 years, Zainol has held senior
positions in various organisations, including Project
Director, Solutions Protocol Sdn Bhd; Executive
Director, Pembinaan Kekal Mewah Sdn Bhd; Managing
Director, Kualiti Alam Sdn Bhd; General Manager
(Technical), PLUS Bhd and a Senior Engineer position
with the Public Works Department.
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NOR HISHAM MOHD YUSOF
Head, Corporate Services
Nor Hisham joined IRDA on 1 March 2007 and is
responsible for the main support functions of IRDA,
namely finance, human resources, information and
communication technology, procurement and general
administration. As the Head of Corporates Services,
he plays a crucial role as the intermediary between
IRDA and a number of key Federal Government
ministries in matters relating to financial allocation
and performance reporting, in particular the Ministry
of Finance and the Economic Planning Unit under the
Prime Minister’s Office.
He has 17 years of professional experience holding
executive positions in the areas of finance, audit and
corporate matters with a number of Government
linked companies and multinationals. Hisham
also spent four years in London, UK with Morison
Stoneham, Chartered Accountants before returning to
Malaysia in 1995.
Hisham holds professional memberships with a
number of recognised professional bodies namely
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of England
and Wales, Malaysian Institute of Accountants and
the Institute of Internal Auditors (Malaysia). He is
also a Certified Internal Auditor (US).

NOR HISHAM HUSSEIN
Acting Head, Social Development
Nor Hisham joined IRDA on 1 May 2007 and
is responsible for the development of Iskandar
Malaysia’s Human Capital blueprint that looks at
human resource and talent requirements in Iskandar
Malaysia. This major blueprint helps ascertain and
formulate the human capital strategies to ensure
the human capital requirements of the nine targeted
economic clusters of Iskandar Malaysia is adequately
met. Nor Hisham is also in charge of monitoring
and facilitating the implementation of the initiatives
formulated under the Human Capital blueprint
and other initiatives under the Social Development
Division.
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He began his career at MBf Finance Berhad in 1992.
Subsequently, he extended his career at Celcom
Berhad where he rose through the ranks from Human
Resource Development and Operations to HR
Strategy, and finally as the Head of Human Resource
Development Division in year 2000.
Nor Hisham joined PwC Consulting in year 2000
and served as Project Manager in the PetronasMISC Business Transformation Project. He was
recruited back to Celcom in year 2003 and played an
instrumental role in the Manpower Rationalisation
and Merger exercise with TM Touch, a Telekom
Malaysia subsidiary. Nor Hisham was also at DDI
International as a Regional Consultant from the
year 2003 to 2005. In 2005, he joined the Port of
Tanjung Pelepas (PTP) as General Manager of Human
Resource. Nor Hisham is DDI’s certified Performance
Management, Selection and HRD facilitator.

AHMAD SUHAILI BIN IDRUS
Head, Integrated Planning
Ahmad Suhaili joined IRDA on 6 February 2009 and  
graduated with first class Honours in Mechanical
Engineering from UMIST (Manchester), UK in 1977. He
holds a B.A. (Hons) in Social Science and Humanities
from the National University of Malaysia. He is also
an MBA graduate from the University of Malaya.
He spent the last 30 years in the heavy equipment,
international oil and gas industries at home and
abroad predominantly in the areas of marketing,
commercial activities and projects. He started his
career in Tractors Malaysia East Coast region as the
Parts and Service Marketing Manager in 1978 and
joined Shell Malaysia in 1983 as a Technical Services
Engineer.
He remained in Shell for 25 years performing several
roles in Bitumen, Oil Trading, Transformation, Gas to
Liquid Marketing, LNG and Global SAP Project where
he was based in not only Kuala Lumpur but also
Singapore and London. He left Shell in 2007 to take
up the position as Chief Operating for Midstream
Business in a local oil and gas company.
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Ahmad Suhaili has spent a considerable period in
several world scale projects since 1998 such as
the Middle Distillate Synthesis Bintulu plant
reconstruction, Iran Gas To Liquid, Qatar Gas To
Liquid and more recently the Golshan (Iran) LNG
project. His management role in these projects
include among others the initial scoping, feasibility,
engineering design development, project planning,
economics, commercial, insurance, marketing and
communication. His planning skills were put to full
use when he led the Global SAP project roll-out for
Shell Malaysia Downstream in 2004-2006 and the
ensuing Sustain and Improve Initiative. Suhaili’s
knowledge and experience will be beneficial in the
next phase of IRDA’s journey to become an
international metropolis by 2025.

MOHAMMAD ISMAIL HAJI IBRAHIM
Head, Iskandar Service Centre
Mohammad Ismail joined IRDA in June 2009 as the
Head of Iskandar Service Centre (ISC). He obtained
his Bachelor of Social Sciences from University Putra
Malaysia.
His wide exposure to business began with a career
in the sales and marketing of fast moving consumer
goods, which he gained during his tenure with a
multinational company. The marketing orientation
served him well in his consulting years, especially
in his dealing with local and international clients
in industries as diverse as hospitality, furniture and
construction. The lessons of value creation were
further enhanced when he became an entrepreneur
– taking over a chain of food stores specialising in
local food. His working experience also includes
an automotive vendor where he had operational
responsibilities for 3 manufacturing facilities, one
wholly-owned subsidiary and one R&D unit.

HAJI JAMESON BIN PIAS@ZAINAL
Head, Strategic Communications
Haji Jameson joined IRDA on 23 March 2009 as the
Head of Strategic Communications. He obtained his
Bachelor of Science, Finance from Southern Illinois
University, USA in 1983 and a Master’s in Business
Administration from Governor State University, USA
in 1985.
He started his career with BBMB and rotated through
a number of positions which include Retail Banking,
Credit Operations and the International Trade
Financing Division. In 1984, while doing his MBA, he
served in the Park Forest Municipality as a Commercial
Analyst in the South Chicago area.
He came back to Malaysia in 1985 to work with an
Oil & Gas Company for 18 years, holding several
positions ranging from Contract Analyst, Production
Sharing Accountant, Manpower Planning and Training
& Recruitment, Area Communication Coordinator
and Regional Retail Manager in several locations of
Malaysia.
In 2002 he became the CE and Director for Urusharta
Cemerlang Sdn. Bhd., a property based company,
developing and managing some of Kuala Lumpur’s
property landmarks.

Prior to joining IRDA, he was the General Manager of
Business Development and Solutions with a leading
logistics company.
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Senior Management Team
AMERUL MUNER MOHAMMAD

MOHD YAZID BIN JA’AFAR

Acting Head, Legal & Secretarial

Acting Head, Sector Development

Amerul Muner Mohammad joined IRDA in November
2007 bringing with him 14 years experience as a legal
practitioner. He was in active legal practice since 1994
and was a partner in a well established legal firm in
Johor Bahru. He started his career as an internal
auditor with a commercial bank prior to being called
to the Malaysian Bar. He was involved in a wide
range of legal services which included laws related to
commercial, banking, planning, international trades,
maritime, civil and criminal litigation, arbitration,
advisory roles to public-listed companies, government
agencies and other aspects of legal practice.

Mohd Yazid joined IRDA in 2009 as Senior Vice
President in Sector Development.

He is a graduate from the Royal Military College and
obtained his law degree from the UK.

HASNI BIN SHAHIDIN

He brings with him 15 years of solid experience in
the techno-commercial area of the engineering and
chemical business both within Malaysia and in the
international scene.
Prior to joining IRDA, he worked with a number of
multinational organisations for 10 years in various
capacities in technical, marketing, business analysis
and customer relationship management roles in
Malaysia as well as in the UK.
He then moved his career back to Malaysia to join a
joint-venture middle distillate chemical company in
Sarawak with shareholders such as Sarawak State,
Mitsubishi, PETRONAS and Shell.

Acting Head, Investor Relations
Hasni joined IRDA on 15 May 2009 and obtained
his Bachelor of Accounting from the International
Islamic University, Malaysia and a Master’s in Business
Administration from the University of Nottingham,
UK.
He has been involved in the Finance aspects of the
global petroleum industry for the past 16 years –
holding a variety of Finance positions within the MNC
Oil & Gas company. He has also successfully delivered
key process transformation agendas, managing
change and transition through effective stakeholder
engagement campaign and communication plans.
Through his appointments within Malaysia, the Middle
East and Europe, Hasni has proven his ability to
operate at a global and cross-boundary level.
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There, he spent 5 years in various roles including
managing the commercial aspects of the global
business unit in specialty products.
Yazid holds a Master’s of Engineering in Chemical
Engineering from the Imperial College, London.
He is also a member of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing and a member of the City and Guilds,
London Institute.

IRDA’s Organisation
Organisation Structure

Organisation Chart

Annual Report 2009

47

48

Annual Report 2009

Iskandar Malaysia & IRDA
Achievements & Events

Achievements & Events
50
53
55
59
64
75
79
80

Investments in Iskandar Malaysia
Implementation of the Investment & Marketing
Strategy Roadmap
Strategic Communications
RMK-9 Infrastructure Projects
Integrated Planning
Social Development
Information & Communications
Technology (ICT)
The Iskandar Service Centre

Annual Report 2009

49

Achievements & Events
Investments in Iskandar Malaysia

Investments in iskandar malaysia
Since its inception in 2006, Iskandar Malaysia has
received investment commitments totalling RM55.6
billion (USD16.2 billion), which has surpassed the
2006-2010 target of RM47.0 billion (USD13.7 billion)
by 118%. In 2009 itself, Iskandar Malaysia attracted
investment commitments totalling RM13.81 billion
(USD4.0 billion) from the manufacturing and services
sector.
The global financial crisis has certainly affected the
committed investments in Iskandar Malaysia which
has registered a downward trend from RM15.95
billion (2008) to RM13.81 billion (2009). However,
with the collaborative effort of the Federal, State
and Local Government agencies, industry bodies
and developers, IRDA has managed to continuously
facilitate and promote Iskandar Malaysia as an
investment oasis despite the global financial crisis.

Breakdown of Cumulative
Committed InvestmentS 2006-2009
RM4.46bn
8%

RM1.75bn
3%

RM6.28bn
11%

Breakdown of Committed
InvestmentS for the year 2009
RM1.95bn
14%

RM0.35bn
2%

RM3.71bn
26%

Manufacturing
Tourism, Education,
Creative and Logistics

RM8.35bn
58%

Property
Others

Note: RMK-9 ceiling reduction of RM557 million has not been
reflected in the above.

RM23.65bn
43%

Promoting the Iskandar
Malaysia Brand
IRDA continued its efforts to create awareness and
to attract investments by actively participating in
various promotional activities in Malaysia and around
the world – via direct promotion and media relations.

RM16.52bn
30%

Manufacturing
Tourism
Utilities
Bunkering
Property
Government Investment
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RM2.9bn
5%

IRDA participated in trade missions abroad organised
by the Malaysian Industrial Development Authority
(MIDA) and MATRADE, as this is an established
approach to engage investors and foreign government
agencies.
In 2009, IRDA participated in investments and trade
missions to Frankfurt, Milan, London, Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia, Egypt, India, Dubai and Singapore.

Achievements & Events
Investments in Iskandar Malaysia

IRDA’s participation in London Trade Mission

Welcome speech by Datuk Zakaria Sulong, Ambassador of
Malaysia to Germany

Malaysian delegation attending Furniture Fair in Milan as part of
MIDA Europe Trade Mission programme

Participation in MITI Trade & Investment Mission to India

Trade discussion in progress

Roundtable meeting in progress

Cityscape Dubai

Iskandar Malaysia pavilion in Cityscape Dubai

Iskandar Malaysia scale model on display in Cityscape Dubai
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Iskandar Malaysia Open Day in City Square, Johor Bahru

State Local Government, Housing, Arts, Culture and Heritage
Committee Chairman, Datuk Ahmad Zahri bin Jamil, launching
the Open Day

Iskandar Malaysia officials briefing Datuk Ahmad Zahri on
latest progress

Investors Dialogue

Investors Dialogue session in Pulai Springs

Investors Dialogue break out session

Participation in LIMA, Langkawi
IRDA also actively promoted Iskandar Malaysia
domestically by holding the Iskandar Malaysia Open
Day and Investors Dialogue, as well as by participating
in LIMA 2009.
With the promotional activities carried out, IRDA
generated wide interest and hosted more than 200
visits from potential investors (domestic and
overseas).

Engagement with foreign missions
and chambers of commerce
IRDA initiated programmes to better engage
Foreign Missions and Chambers of Commerce on the
investment opportunities available in Iskandar
Malaysia.
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Promoting Iskandar Malaysia at LIMA 2009
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Implementation of Investment &
Marketing Strategy Roadmap
In the third quarter of 2008, IRDA initiated an
Investment & Marketing Strategy study to look into
the enhancement of Iskandar Malaysia’s economic
drivers and to define the value propositions and
advantages for investors.
The study was completed in 2009 and it identified
seven major enablers needed to attract and retain high
value-added investments in Iskandar Malaysia. The
enablers are:
1. Ensuring adequate supply of qualified personnel
2. Upgrading the capabilities of existing players
3. Expanding the scale and quality of high
value activities
4. Improving utilities
5. Improving the accessibility in and into
Iskandar Malaysia
6. Building the reputation of Iskandar Malaysia
7. Improving on efficiency in Iskandar Malaysia
The enablers are designed to complement other
blueprints and initiatives by IRDA to provide a
comprehensive and holistic package for investment
attraction and retention.
List of Enablers
Ensure adequate supply
of qualified personnel

Key Blueprints or Initiatives
• Iskandar Malaysia Human
Capital Blueprint

Upgrade capabilities of
existing players
Expand scale and quality
of high value activities

• Stakeholder Engagement
Programmes

Improve utilities e.g.
power, gas

• ICT and Telecommunication
• Electricity Blueprint
• Renewable Energy
Masterplan
• Water Supply Masterplan
• Gas Supply Masterplan

Improve accessibility

• Integrated Transport Study
• Transportation Master Plan

Build reputation of
Iskandar Malaysia

• Iskandar Malaysia Branding

Improve on efficiencies
e.g. Customs, Regulations

• Business Integration
• Service Level Agreements

The roadmap mapped out 36 initiatives to be
implemented in 2009, out of which 30 initiatives
were commenced.
Sectors

Enablers

2009
(rolled out)

Petro & Oleo Chemical

TS, ES, IU, BR

8/8

Electrical and Electronics

TS, ES, IU

4/4

Food & Agro Processing

TS, UC, ES

5/5

Tourism

UC, IA, BR

4/4

Logistics

ES, BR, IE

4/5

Healthcare

TS, IA, BR,

2/2

Education

TS, US, BR

1/2

Financial Services

TS, BR

1/1

Creative Services

TS, ES, IE

1/5

TS
US
ES
IU
IA
BR
IE

Ensure adequate talent supply
Upgrade capabilities of existing players
Expand scale of high value activities
Improve utilities
Improve accessibility
Build reputation
Improve efficiences

Iskandar Malaysia SME Seminar and
Networking Programme
The year 2009 has been difficult for all businesses due
to the global economic downturn. The SME sector in
Malaysia has been especially affected.
The demand for products and services saw a sharp
decline of 50% - 60% and in some cases up to 80%.
This unfavourable prospect was also faced by the
26,000 SMEs in Johor of which 65% are located within
Iskandar Malaysia.
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SME Seminar and Networking Programme

Seizing the opportunity to prepare the local sector
players for economic recovery, IRDA began engaging
the local SMEs, generating awareness on incentives
and assistance made available by the government and
the local authorities for their businesses.
Consequently, in July 2009, IRDA held the ‘Iskandar
Malaysia SME Seminar & Networking Programme’ at
Persada Johor International Convention Centre, Johor
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Bahru. The seminar served as a platform to share the
upcoming projects in Iskandar Malaysia as well as to
provide SMEs with information and clarification on
incentives and assistance available for SMEs.
The seminar was held with the collaborative efforts
of key government agencies and players in Iskandar
Malaysia. It was attended by approximately 100
SMEs.

Achievements & Events
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Strategic communications
Managing key stakeholders is pivotal in achieving
IRDA strategic objectives, and it was implemented
through interpreting and influencing external and
internal environments to create positive relationships
with stakeholders.

European Leadership Forum, London

European Union (EU) Ambassadors visit to Iskandar Malaysia

Throughout 2009, over 300 engagements were
conducted to manage stakeholders’ expectations,
create buy-in, as well as to enhance awareness
on Iskandar Malaysia and its progress. With a
wide spectrum of stakeholders, the Strategic
Communications team focused on key targeted
audiences, including the federal and state agencies,
politicians, media, Non-Governmental Organisations
(NGO’s), Chambers of Commerce and the local
community.

Briefing to H. E. T. Jasudasen, Singapore High Commissioner
to Malaysia

A series of briefings were also held specifically to
disseminate information on progress and status of
RMK-9 infrastructure projects to the media and local
community.

EU Ambassador’s Visit: An exchange of views with the
Menteri Besar of Johor

The engagement medium varied according to audience
and some of the platforms used were face-to-face
communications, briefings, formal discussion sessions
and also site visits to developments taking place in
Iskandar Malaysia.

IRDA briefing session to delegates from the Home Ministry
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Strategic communications
Media
In a concerted effort to continuously promote
Iskandar Malaysia on both domestic and international
platforms, a series of active media engagements
were planned to ensure sustainable coverage in both
print and electronic media.

C-Suite executives, senior managers, and government
officials and leading global opinion makers. Among the
global channels which carried World Business included
PBS in the USA, CNBC Asia, CNBC Europe and Sky News
Business Channel which covers the Oceania region.
In support of the Iskandar Johor Open 2009 golf
tournament, IRDA was featured on Business of Sport,
which was broadcast on 25 airlines around the world
including Singapore Airlines, Malaysia Airlines, Etihad,
Jet Airways and Saudi Arabian Airlines.

Iskandar Malaysia’s progress as reported in Khaleej Times of UAE

The underlying communication messages included
the progress of Iskandar Malaysia, the outcomes
and benefits to the community, creating greater
awareness of Iskandar Malaysia while dispelling any
negative perception on the region as well as calling
for participation from the various stakeholders
including the business community, investors and
local community.
Internationally, feature stories were also produced
on World Business, an internationally syndicated
program on CNBC Asia, CNBC Europe, Al Arabiya and
on 33 airlines around the world including Emirates,
Singapore Airlines and Malaysia Airlines.

Iskandar Malaysia featured in fDi magazine’s ‘Asian Cities of
the Future’

IRDA also ran a 4-page feature about Iskandar
Malaysia in the fDi magazine to coincide with the
‘Asian Cities of the Future’ which awarded Johor
the 2nd spot for the ‘Cost Effectiveness’ category.

In addition, one minute vignettes were filmed,
produced and aired on selected networks namely
CNBC Asia, Channel News Asia, Al Arabiya and CNN
to coincide with events where IRDA participated,
including the World Economic Forum on East Asia
and Cityscape Dubai.
TV interview placements were also planned for IRDA’s
CE on various international networks, updating on the
region’s success and progress. Iskandar Malaysia was
also featured on World Business, which has a global
reach of 300 million households. World Business is
a weekly, half-hour television programme reaching
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Times Higher Education Awards being presented to Iskandar Malaysia

There was also extensive coverage on the Education
industry in Iskandar Malaysia. This included a one-page
feature in the Council of Commonwealth Education
Minister’s annual reference book and coverage on
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NUMed Malaysia and Iskandar Malaysia’s Educity,
which appeared as a cover story in the Times Higher
Education magazine.
News on the opening of Marlborough College campus
in Iskandar Malaysia was also widely covered in
publications such as The Times, The Telegraph, BBC
Online, The Wiltshire and Glocestershire Standard and
Wall Street Journal Online.
Several exclusive interviews were also conducted
with the Singapore media including Singapore Straits
Times, Business Times Singapore, Forbes Asia and
CNBC Asia, Singapore.
On the domestic front, besides planned interviews in
the local mainstream newspapers and news stations,
a variety of media engagements were also carried
out to foster closer relationships with the local media
to ensure continued support. Among activities held
were the Media Race and Media Retreat.

IRDA also collaborated with Johor FM, the local radio
station, as a channel to disseminate information
and to keep the community informed on current
developments, issues and upcoming events and
happenings in Iskandar Malaysia.
In the print media for both Malaysia and Singapore,
Iskandar Malaysia obtained 95% positive news
coverage with a PR value of RM12.4 million for 2009.

Branding
To continue branding Iskandar Malaysia as the
first choice to Invest, Work, Live and Play, Iskandar
Malaysia was featured in Open Skies, the Emirates
in-flight magazine. This advertorial highlighted
Iskandar Malaysia’s attractiveness to Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) investors and tourists.
Special advertising supplements were also featured
in Forbes and the International Herald Tribune.
In addition, Iskandar Malaysia was also featured in
a four-page full colour advertorial in Going Places,
the in-flight magazine for Malaysia Airlines.
Print advertisements, buntings and greeting cards
were also developed to match the 1Malaysia theme,
at the same time promoting the Iskandar Malaysia
brand.

Participants raring to go before the IRDA organised Media Race

Media engagements to foster closer ties with local media

As a branding effort through international events,
IRDA took part in Sail Malaysia – a cruising rally
across Malaysia. The Sail Malaysia ‘Iskandar Malaysia
Welcoming Centre’ was held from 30 October to 1
November, with the overall period of the rally being
from 30 October to 11 December 2009. The event
attracted 170 participants from 15 international
countries aboard 80 yachts.
Another event was the Iskandar Malaysia World
Festival of Scrabble, which was held in November and
received teams from 41 countries. The Facebook panel
advertising achieved a total of 7,270,497 impressions
(unique visitors) with a click rate of 35%. This
meant the Iskandar Malaysia brand was exposed to
7,270,497 people from around the world with 35%
of them (2,544,675 people) seeking to find out more
information about the region.
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Strategic communications
Other branding efforts included the designing and
use of the IRDA Uniform to enhance branding efforts
through IRDA employees and to create a professional
and distinct image, especially during events and other
marketing related activities.
Car stickers and directional signage bearing the brand
identity were also developed and introduced in July
and August respectively.

Events
IRDA carved a milestone in its journey by collaborating
with the private and Government sector in organising
the first ever Iskandar Malaysia Open Day (IMOD) in
May for the public. Themed “A Vision For All”, the
exhibition showcased exhibitions for the Johor
community to gain an insight into everything there
was to know about the latest developments within
Iskandar Malaysia and how it would benefit them as
well as future generations in the long run.

Iskandar Malaysia Open Day, Persada Johor International
Convention Centre, Johor Bahru

A second IMOD was successfully organised in
October, this time showcasing the various blueprints
which had been planned and developed to enhance
living and working in Iskandar Malaysia.
IRDA also took part in Cityscape Abu Dhabi (1722 April), Cityscape Asia, Singapore (19-21 May)
and Cityscape Dubai (8-11 Oct). All events
attracted regional and international investors,
property developers, Government and development
authorities, consultants and other professionals in the
property sector. Iskandar Malaysia received extensive
brand exposure and publicity from these events.
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Business Week Dubai networking session

Other major events which IRDA participated in were
the 6th World Chamber Congress and the World
Economic Forum on East Asia, both held in June.
Building on the success of Iskandar Johor Open 2008
(IJO), the IJO 2009 was held at the Royal Johor Country
Club from 22 to 25 October. A total of 156 participants
from 25 countries took part in this prestigious event.
Returning Champion and two-time US Open winner
Retief Goosen from South Africa made the trip to Johor
to take on the best of the Asian Tour and defend his
title. Playing in Johor for the first time was South Korean
K.J. Choi. The Asian Tour honorary member celebrated
his return to the tour with a popular win that saw him
fight off a spirited defence from Goosen and hugely
talented Himmat Rai of India.
The four day tournament ended with K.J. Choi bagging
the championship title. The total PR Value of media
coverage for the months of September-October was
RM2,454,255 (USD724,076) and spanned Malaysia,
Singapore and other international markets.

IJO 2009 Champion – K.J. Choi
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RMK-9 INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS
BACKGROUND
In 2007, IRDA was entrusted with developing and
implementing infrastructure projects, listed in the
Rancangan Malaysia Ke-9 (RMK-9), within Iskandar
Malaysia with a budget allocation from the Federal
Government amounting to RM1,969 billion. Following
the RMK-9 Mid-Term Review in August 2008, the
allocation was increased to RM2,906 billion.
Under the original RMK-9 budget allocation, there
were six (6) packages of road projects, two (2)
packages of river projects and one (1) package of
drainage project for the Central Business District
area (CBD), implemented by the Technical & Projects
Division.

DETAILS OF PROJECTS, CURRENT
PROGRESS AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS
Road Projects
Six (6) road packages approved under the original
RMK-9 budget were awarded on the Design and Build
direct negotiation basis. The Bandar Indahpura KulaiLinkedua Expressway Interchange (Kulai Interchange)
is scheduled to be awarded by the 2nd quarter of 2010.
The list of all packages and their current progress is
illustrated in Table 1.
To date, two (2) packages of road projects namely
Package 3A and Package 6 are targeted for completion
in the second quarter of 2010, ahead of time while the
rest of the packages are progressing as per schedule.

Following the Mid-Term Review approval, three (3)
additional projects were initiated; the road project
of Bandar Indahpura, Kulai-Linkedua Expressway
Interchange (Kulai Interchange), the Iskandar Malaysia
Housing Project and the relocation of squatters at Sg.
Tebrau and Sg. Skudai for river cleaning works.

Package		
			

Detailed
Project

Project Cost
(RM)

Commencement
Date

Completion	Schedule
Date
(%)

Actual
(%)

1

Coastal Highway

945,798,602.35

23 Dec 2008

22 Dec 2011

14.28

24.39

2

Skudai – Abu Bakar

195,417,908.69

23 Dec 2008

22 June 2011

48.19

28.41

3A

Yahya Awal Interchange

30,140,162.01

29 Oct 2008

28 Oct 2010

52.03

92.45

3B

Abu Bakar Interchange

141,709,315.12

29 Oct 2008

28 April 2011

27.12

33.87

4

Skudai – Senai

69, 655,036.55

29 Oct 2008

28 April 2011

39.71

56.10

5

Ulu Tiram 		

51,844,403.19

23 Dec 2008

22 June 2011

17.22

26.54

6

Kolam Air 		

21,916,878.46

29 Oct 2008

28 April 2010

86.09

80.05

7

Kulai Interchange

36,236,712.20 		SITE POSSESSION 2nd Quarter 2010

Total Original Project Cost (Not including Land Acquisition)			

RM1,492,719,018.57

Table 1
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River Cleaning Projects
To maximise the participation of local contractors,
the River Cleaning and Drainage programme works
were broken up into six (6) and eleven (11) packages
respectively, and all the packages were called on an
open tender basis.
All six (6) packages of river cleaning were awarded
through open tender process carried out by the
Technical & Projects Division since 2008. The first

Upgrading works at Sungai Tebrau (Linear Park)

Project		
	No		
1

package, Membina dan Menyiapkan Kerja-kerja
Pemulihan Sungai Tebrau dan Cabang-cabangnya
Serta Kerja- Kerja Berkaitan (Pakej A), was awarded on
August 2008.
To date, one (1) river cleaning project, Sungai Tebrau
Package B, has been completed while the rest are
progressing as per schedule. The list of all projects and
their current progress is illustrated in Table 2.

Mechanical trash rakes at Sungai Skudai

Detailed
Project

Project Cost
(RM)

Commencement
Date

Sg. Tebrau (Package A)

14,383,300.00

18 Aug 2008

						

Completion	Schedule
Date
(%)

Actual
(%)

31 Aug 2009

93.0

93.00

EOT: 31 Jan 2010

2√

Sg. Tebrau (Package B)

9,651,844.40

23 Oct 2008

22 Oct 2009

100.00

100.00

3

Sg. Skudai (Package 1)

53,951,262.56

17 Nov 2008

5 April 2010

85.00

84.00

4

Sg. Skudai (Package 2)

11,652,518.00

23 Oct 2008

22 Oct 2009

34.00

32.00

						

EOT: 5 June 2010

5

Sg. Tebrau (Package C)

18,644,348.10

10 April 2009

9 April 2010

70.70

65.30

6

Sg. Skudai (Package 3)

5,050,000.00

10 April 2009

9 April 2010

66.00

65.00

Total Original Project Cost- Awarded (Not including Land Acquisition)		
Table 2
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RM113,330,273.06
√ Completed project
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Drainage Projects
All eleven (11) packages of the drainage projects were
awarded through an open tender process carried out
by the Technical & Projects Division since 2008. The
first five (5) packages namely Saliran Sg. Ayer Molek,
Saliran Kg. Hj. Mohd. Amin, Saliran Kg. Permatang &
Jalan Denai, Saliran Kg. Hj. Rahmat dan Saliran Sg.
Taman Johor were awarded in August 2008.
To date, six (6) packages have been completed while
the rest are progressing as per schedule. The full list of
all projects and their current progress is illustrated in
Table 3.

Project		
	No		

Detailed
Project

1√

Sg. Ayer Molek

2√

Kg. Hj. Mohd. Amin

3√
		

Kg. Permatang &
Jalan Denai

Sungai Tebrau (Linear Park)

Project Cost
(RM)

Commencement
Date

Completion	Schedule
Date
(%)

Actual
(%)

13,370,339.70

18 Aug 2008

31 Aug 2009

100.00

100.00

4,742,828.80

18 Aug 2008

31 Aug 2009

100.00

100.00

13,430,376.00

18 Aug 2008

31 Aug 2009

100.00

100.00

4√

Kg. Hj. Rahmat

5,433,833.00

18 Aug 2008

31 Aug 2009

100.00

100.00

5√

Sg. Taman Johor

9,400,485.60

18 Aug 2008

31 Aug 2009

100.00

100.00

6

Sungai Bala

9,482,645.00

23 Oct 2008

22 Oct 2009

76.00

72.00

92.00

91.00

						
7

Saliran Bandar Senai

20,675,307.50

23 Oct 2008

						
8

Sg. Seranggong

9√

EOT: 29 Mar 2010
22 Oct 2009
EOT: 5 April 2010

13,000,000.00

12 March 2009

11 March 2010

98.00

99.11

Sg. Sri Buntan

3,666,666.66

12 March 2009

11 March 2010

72.00

100.00

10
		

Kawasan Perindustrian
Tebrau I dan II

13,295,577.00

10 April 2009

9 April 2010

70.00

69.00

11
		

Sg. Abd Samad &
Sg. Rinting

15,910,000.00

10 April 2009

9 April 2010

64.34

64.00

Total Original Project Cost- Awarded (Not including Land Acquisition)		
Table 3

RM122,408,059.26
√ Completed project
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Iskandar Malaysia Housing Project
Under the RMK-9 Mid-Term Review, the Federal
Government approved RM200 million to Iskandar
Regional Development Authority (IRDA) to develop
1,500 units of rental based public housing in Iskandar
Malaysia. This project is to be developed on a 60-acre
plot of land near the intersection of the Second Link
and Perling Johor Bahru Highway (JB Parkway) in
Mukim Pulai, district of Johor Bahru.
The objective of the project is to provide better and
improved quality rental housing in Iskandar Malaysia
with improved public facilities in a conducive living
environment. The Iskandar Malaysia Housing Project
is envisaged to be a benchmark for the new concept
of public housing in Iskandar Malaysia with a medium
density of 25 units per acre. It will have new design
elements that emphasise more open spaces and
community facilities such as shops, surau, football
fields, futsal courts and community halls.
The project will also feature the usage of green
technology such as photovoltaic solar cells to
generate electricity, rainwater harvesting for
maintenance of landscaping and common areas,
safety and security features such as CCTV and anticlimb fencing, high speed broadband, and many
others. Efforts are also being taken to obtain Green
Building certification for this project.

Project		
	No		

Detailed
Project

The project utilises the Industrialised Building System
(IBS) in its construction methodology whereby the
wall panels, staircase and slabs are cast off-site and
brought to site in batches for installation. This method
has increased the speed of construction and at the
same time reduced the dependency on foreign labour.
The project is divided into four (4) packages and an
open tender process was carried out in 2009. The first
tender package was awarded in July 2009. To date, the
first package, Earthworks, was completed while the
rest of the packages are progressing intensively. The
full list of all packages and their current progress is
illustrated in Table 4.

Perling Bridge (Coastal Highway) under construction

Project Cost
(RM)

Commencement
Date

Completion	Schedule
Date
(%)

Actual
(%)

6,597,069.85

27 July 2009

19 Oct 2009

100.00

100.00

1√

Earthwork Package

2

Building Package

142,808,000.00

15 Oct 2009

5 Jan 2011

41.19

39.51

3

Infrastructure
27,763,619.80
Package Plot A		

14 April 2010
Scheduled

13 April 2011
Scheduled

0.00

0.00

4
		

Infrastructure
14,008,557.00
Package Plot B		

22 March 2010
Scheduled

21 Mar 2011
Scheduled

0.00

0.00

Total Original Project Cost- Awarded (Not including Land Acquisition)		
Table 4
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RM113,330,273.06
√ Completed project

Achievements & Events
RMK-9 Infrastructure Projects

Outcomes
The road projects are expected to ease traffic flow and
reduce travelling time across the city and sub-urban
areas. It will create an economic spill-over effect for
the people and local businesses. The physical
developments create and support the growth of small
contractors within Iskandar Malaysia. Residents,
investors and the local business community in
Iskandar Malaysia will enjoy a better quality of life and
enhanced business opportunities once projects under
the Ninth Malaysia Plan are completed.

Programme in Iskandar Malaysia. The focus is on three
(3) main rivers, namely Sg. Segget, Sg. Tebrau and Sg.
Skudai. The long-term goal under this programme is
to improve the water quality from Class IV (non-body
contact) to Class II (body-contact) by 2015.
The drainage programme will help overcome the
flash flood problems within the city centre once
completed by December 2010. This is in line with
the commitment and emphasis given to sustainable
development and social and environmental issues in
Iskandar Malaysia.

Meanwhile, improving the quality of life remains a
key objective under the River Cleaning and Drainage

Abu Bakar Interchange

Danga Interchange (Coastal Highway)

Public Housing, Kota Iskandar

Ulu Tiram Interchange
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Integrated Planning

Integrated planning
To plan for a quality built environment, to develop
enablers and to protect the environment based on
best practices from all over the world
IRDA implemented various projects identified
in completed blueprints in 2008 which includes
initiatives from blueprints such as Safety and Security,
Integrated Transport Study and Human Capital. In
continuation of its efforts to provide a quality built
environment benchmarked with best practices from
all over the world, the blueprints provide strategies,
framework and implementation plans to enhance
and support development in Iskandar Malaysia. IRDA
also worked collaboratively with relevant agencies
and industry bodies to define their standards of
excellence.

		

Blueprints 	Year of
Completion

Strategic Investment & Marketing

2009

Iskandar Malaysia Tourism Blueprint

2009

Iskandar Malaysia Human Capital Blueprint

2009

Iskandar Housing Management

2009

Integrated Land Use Blueprint

2009

Planning and Design Guidelines
for Housing

2009

Planning and Design Guidelines for
Neighbourhood Design

2009

Planning and Design Guidelines for
Public Facilities

2009

Master Plan for Sewerage and
Wastewater Treatment

2009

ICT and Telecommunication

2009

Area Character Statement

Process for preparing blueprints

64

In progress

Planning and Design Guidelines
for Commercial

Planning

Planning and Design Guidelines
for Industry

Planning

Environmental Planning

In progress

Shoreline Management Plan

In progress

Integrated Planning is the custodian of IRDA
blueprints and by end 2009, 16 out of 32 planned
blueprints were completed, while 16 others were in
various stages of completion.

Green Building Blueprint

Blueprints 	Year of
		
Completion

Drainage and Storm Water Management

Procurement

Maintenance and Operational Plan

Procurement

Integrated Transport Study

2008

Earthwork Management Blueprint

Planning

Enterprise G.I.S Blueprint for
Iskandar Malaysia

2008

Master Plan for Water Supply

Safety & Security

2008

Planning Guidelines for Mixed Use
Development

2008

Design Brief for Public Housing

2008

Guidelines for Foreign Workers Housing

2008
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Planning

Master Plan for Renewable Energy

In progress

Integrated Solid Waste Management

In progress

Procurement

Master Plan for Gas Supply

Planning

Master Plan for Electricity

In progress

Transportation Master Plan

Procurement

Road Layout Design

Planning

Achievements & Events
Integrated Planning

Completed blueprints 2009
Ten (10) blueprints were completed in 2009 and a
brief description of selected blueprints are as follows:

Integrated Land Use BLUEPRINT
This is a management plan that provides a framework
for the delivery of regional economic strategies to
coordinate land use development with planning and
provision of infrastructure public amenities; protect
and enhance the region’s natural environment, urban
biodiversity and green network; as well as identify
actions and prioritises their implementation.

Key Implementation Plans
Three (3) key plans include i) Monitoring of existing
land use in the flagship zones to assist in promotional
activities; ii) Integration of the Land Management
framework plan in the District Local Plan; and iii)
Defining the flagship boundary to facilitate the
incentive and promotional related activities.
Benefits To Iskandar Malaysia
i) Synchronise land development with existing,
committed infrastructure; ii) Manage growth
based on current and future development potential
and resources; and, iii) Budget and monitor land
development and iv) Prevent premature development.

Planning and Urban Design
Guidelines for Housing, Facilities
and Neighbourhood Design
This is a new policy on the provision of Public Housing
by the government and affordable housing by the
private sector, and design guidelines for housing.

Proposed development footprint

Key Strategies
The nine (9) key strategies to manage land use are
i) Limit the outward growth through an Urban Growth
Boundary; ii) Sequence and prioritise the development
within the existing Urban Footprint; iii) Protect the
environmental resources, green edges and green
network; iv) Continue to promote developments in
all catalyst development zones; v) Integrate public
transport and land use development; vi) Integrate
vision and strategies for Iskandar Malaysia in all State
and Federal development plans; vii) Develop tools
to synchronise approval for the development and
provision of infrastructure; viii) Set up a framework for
the planning mechanism to ensure better coordination;
and ix) Strengthen the current management of land
development for Iskandar Malaysia as one region.

Key Strategies
The three (3) key strategies are i) Improve housing
environment via guidelines; ii) Improve submission
requirement; and iii) Provision of low-cost housing by
the government and affordable housing by private
sector to match current household income.

Sustainable living through building design standards and guidelines
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Promotion of liveable communities and sustainable living

Key Implementation Plans
Launching of new policies and resolving the
oversupply of existing low cost houses.
Benefits To Iskandar Malaysia
i) A new policy that addresses affordability of
houses based on current income levels in Iskandar
Malaysia; ii) New planning standards and statutory
requirements that match lifestyle and social economic
activities of local communities; and iii) Promotion of
liveable communities and sustainable living through
building design standards and guidelines.

Iskandar Malaysia Human Capital
Blueprint
A blueprint that not only determines the human capital
demand in the nine (9) targeted economic clusters
for Iskandar Malaysia, but also formulates strategies
and implementable action plans to ensure sustainable
supply of talents.
Key Strategies
The four (4) key strategies include i) The development
of talent where employability of Iskandar Malaysia’s
talent must be enhanced to ensure unemployment
levels in Iskandar Malaysia is less than 1.8%;
ii) Attracting necessary talent into Iskandar Malaysia
which will be supplemented by talent from outside
Iskandar Malaysia; iii) Retaining talent and mitigating
potential migration of talent to neighbouring
countries by providing high value-added jobs instead
of labour-intensive jobs; and iv) Providing an exit
strategy for industries that have a high dependency on
unskilled foreign labour.
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Key Implementation Plans
IRDA successfully completed the development of
the Human Capital Blueprint in March 2009. Since
then engagements and syndications with various
ministries and agencies were organised to gather
feedback and to get buy-in for its implementation.
In ensuring a sustainable supply of talent for
Iskandar Malaysia, the Blueprint has recommended
Talent Development, Attraction, Retention and Exit
strategies (DARE), to be implemented in 3 phases:
I. Phase 1 – Planning and Foundation
			
( Year 2009 – 2011)
II. Phase 2 – Strengthening and Growth
			
(Year 2012 – 2015)
III. Phase 3 – Sustaining and Innovating
			
(Year 2016 onwards)
Based on these DARE strategies, the Blueprint has
detailed out 65 initiatives to be carried out. There are
initiatives which are specific to each sector and some
are generic and applicable across all sectors.
Out of these sixty five (65) initiatives, five (5) quickwins were identified to be implemented in 2009. These
quick-wins were chosen due to its high feasibility of
implementation of less than a year and its high impact
on Iskandar Malaysia.
The Iskandar Malaysia Human Capital Steering
Committee in its meeting on 13 July 2009 endorsed
the Human Capital Blueprint recommendations and
implementation plan. Since then, IRDA has moved
forward into the Implementation Phase and all
quick-wins and initiatives planned for 2009 were
implemented on schedule.

Achievements & Events
Integrated Planning

Benefits To Iskandar Malaysia
A more developed talent pool with improved skills
that meets industry demands to enhance the
employability of the talent. Over time, salary levels
will be more competitive globally, resulting in higher
disposable income and purchasing power. A better,
more developed, healthier pool of human capital
will inevitably lead to improved social well-being. A
better social well-being will also lead to a harmonious
environment. This is in line with Iskandar Malaysia’s
aspiration to be the preferred place to work, live
and play. Ultimately, the overall quality of life will
improve.

management for Iskandar. There are five (5) gaps in the
current solid waste management that cover aspects of
i) Generation, ii) Storage, iii) Collection, iv) Treatment
and v) Disposal.

Blueprints commenced in 2009
Six (6) blueprints were awarded for consultancy in
2009. They are as follows:

Integrated Solid Waste
Management
The blueprint provides a sustainable strategic
framework for an integrated solid waste management
for Iskandar Malaysia taking into account the land
use strategies outlined in the development plans
(Structure and Local Plans). It also provides updates on
the solid waste management system and establishes
a database for the solid waste management to ensure
that new development areas are closely monitored
and adhere to the adopted planning guidelines.
The blueprint outlines the mechanism for effective
implementation of integrated solid waste
management which includes the use of proven
and cost-effective technology and supports the
establishment of the 3R programme for various
types of land use activities proposed in the CDP.
It also provides the framework for the solid waste
management programme, intended for the community
and corporate entities, to support their commitment
in the 3R programme.

Current sanitary landfill at Seelong

Area Character Statement
A blueprint that addresses and identifies special
architectural or historical interests/events that may
influence the overall character and appearance of a
particular area and provides a framework to preserve
or enhance the existing character.
Status by end of 2009
Completed pending endorsement.
Key Findings
Findings cover four (4) main aspects that include Built
Heritage: Historical buildings are poorly managed or
renovated; Social & Cultural Elements: Diminishing
cultural skills and knowledge; Natural Elements:
Historical natural elements risk of being forgotten; and
Urban Design: Undefined character and monotonous
appearance among existing towns.

Status by end of 2009
Completed pending endorsement.
Key Findings
The blueprint addresses gaps and the opportunities
for enhancement in order to ensure more sustainable
strategies and an action plan for the solid waste

Bangunan Sultan Ibrahim, heritage building
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Electricity
The blueprint provides a clear direction towards
achieving high quality and reliable supply of
electricity which includes policy guidance,
development strategies, planning and design
guidelines, implementation plan and programme for
reliability, safety, quality and efficient distribution of
electricity supply.

Gambir, heritage plant

Renewable and Energy Efficiency
The aim of the blueprint is to provide a roadmap on
Renewable Energy (RE) and Energy Efficiency (EE) for
Iskandar Malaysia through policy guidance, planning
design and guidelines for RE and EE.
Status by end of 2009
60% completed.
Key Findings
There are three (3) gaps identified in the blueprint:
i) Poor performance of the Renewable Energy Power
Programme (SREP); ii) Lack of initiatives to promote
RE and EE through land use planning and iii) High
dependence on conventional source for energy. The
blueprint proposes four (4) strategies to narrow
the gaps and are as follows: i) Identification of
Renewable Energy potentials in Iskandar Malaysia; ii)
Implementation of Feed In Tariff to promote RE and
EE; iii) Public Awareness on Energy Conservation and
Green Technology initiatives and; iv) Promote Planning
and Design Guidelines Towards Energy Efficiency.

Status by end of 2009
60% completed.
Key Findings
The blueprint needs to ensure that the electricity
supply is in sustainable quantities and at affordable
prices and supports the economic growth of
Iskandar Malaysia, taking into account environment
management requirements and interactions among
economic sectors towards achieving sustainable
development objectives.
The proposed mechanism in the blueprint shall
complement the management of urban growth
strategies identified for Iskandar Malaysia.

Typical electricity transmission line

Shoreline Management Plan
The blueprint is a comprehensive study on Iskandar
Malaysia’s 125km coastline, which contains much
of the developed areas as well as some of its most
pristine areas including the 3 Ramsar sites, forest
reserves and environmentally sensitive areas.
Existing Mensilin Holdings biomass-based cogeneration plant,
Pasir Gudang, off-grid RE system
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Status by end of 2009
60% completed.

Achievements & Events
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Key Findings
The coastline is a series of interlinked physical
systems, comprising both offshore and onshore
elements of pristine relatively undisturbed natural
areas and developed regions. These natural and
man-made elements led to the determination of
the proposed management cells along the coastline,
which will be covered in the remaining 40% of the
study. The latter will cover the actual proposed
environmental planning and management of the
coastline. The study so far has identified the following
key findings:
Coastal Processes: Erosion of various degrees has
been found along the coastlines notably on the
western side of the Iskandar Malaysia region.

Severe coastal erosion at Tanjung Piai

River Basin
Catchment

Cause of Floods

Sungai Pulai

Tidal flood and overland flow within
the floodplain and lowland areas.

Sungai Skudai

High flow exceeding the design
magnitudes; poor maintenance of
major drains and outlets, operated
by P.U.B. Skudai; and improper
maintenance causing constriction to
flow and backflow.

Sungai Tebrau

Debris blockage and insufficient
drainage capacity; increase in time
concentration of storm water drainage
discharge from Tebrau industrial area;
and vulnerability to flood community
along the Sungai Tebrau.

Sungai Johor

High sedimentation causing shallow
river; flooding incidence in combination
with high spring tide; and overflowing
of waters from the normal confines of
a river or stream.

Water Quality & Pollution: Preliminary study shows
that major pollution sources along the coastline are
Kukup township; Tg. Bin Power Station and Tanjung
Pelepas Port; Johor Bahru city both to the right and
left of the Causeway; and the Pasir Gudang industrial
area.
Marine & Terrestrial Biodiversity: The study finds
that the marine and terrestrial biodiversity of the
western coastline of Iskandar Malaysia is being
affected by marine water pollution, ship wrecks,
development pressures and some severe erosion.
Other parts of the coastline are facing encroachment
and degradation in areas such as Pasir Gudang/Tanjung
Langsat and along Sg. Johor.

Coastal development Puteri Harbour, Nusajaya, Flagship B

Flood Risk Assessment: Major flooding issues are
found along the following four areas of Iskandar
Malaysia:

Survey on the Socio-economic Status of the Coastal
Communities: The majority of the respondents along
the coastline are ethnic Malay and Orang Asli; only
a small percentage are ethnic Chinese living along
the coastline except in the Kukup area, where they
Annual Report 2009
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are sizeable. Majority of the respondents turn to the
sea for their livelihood, while two-thirds of the
respondents were found to be fishermen.

Environmental Planning
Provides a strategic planning framework for the
environmental planning and management of Iskandar
Malaysia. The blueprint’s aim is to achieve sustainable
forms of development and land use which will
maintain and enhance the quality, character and
appearance of the environment for the benefit of all.
The blueprint’s focus is on biodiversity and habitats
management; climate change management; air quality
management; river water management; geo-terrain,
soil and groundwater management; green economy;
and environmental governance.
Status by end of 2009
60% completed.

View of the Johor Bahru skyline from Kg. Sg. Melayu

Fisheries & Aquaculture: Artisanal fisheries are the
main source of livelihood for the locals in Kukup, Tg.
Piai and Tg. Bin areas.
Tourism: Eco-friendly and rural tourism (homestays,
traditional fishing village, seafood restaurants)
dominate the coastal activities especially in Kukup, Tg.
Piai and Sg. Johor.

Key Findings
The overall environmental quality of Iskandar
Malaysia has been assessed and sources of pollution
have also been generally identified according to the
environmental sectors, river basins and localities. In
terms of the key findings of the Study so far, here are
the results:
Water Quality: Potential issues related to water
quality are mainly due to improperly treated effluent
discharges or overloading of rivers in urban areas and
non-point sources of pollution and largely unregulated
discharges from commercial establishments.
Air Quality: Potential issues for air quality
management are urban and industrial sources of air
emission, as the more rural and undeveloped areas do
not face as many pressing air quality problems except
for transboundary air pollution from regional sources.

Smooth Otters at Tanjung Piai Ramsar Site. Picture courtesy of
Vincent Chow

Ports & Harbours: The three ports located within
Iskandar Malaysia are Port of Tanjung Pelepas, Tanjung
Langsat Port and Johor Port. Conventionally, these
ports serve as land-sea interfaces and as gateways for
Malaysia’s exports and imports. However, in the case
of the Port of Tanjung Pelepas, transhipment activity
accounts for over 90% of TEU’s handled.
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Noise: These are mainly caused by road traffic in
congested areas of Iskandar Malaysia, especially in
Johor Bahru city and its conurbation.
Soil and Groundwater: Certain parameters such as
river bed sediment quality have been measured in this
study and can be continued in order to collect periodic
data for analysis and monitoring. Uncontrolled
solid waste dump sites are potential sources of
groundwater contamination as the lack of proper
leachate containment and treatment systems allows
the leachate to infiltrate into the ground.

Achievements & Events
Integrated Planning

Natural habitats: Johor’s forest reserves are rapidly
shrinking due to poor management, including illegal
activities within the reserves, and are contributing
to air and water pollution, soil erosion as well as the
destruction of flora and fauna. The study also shows
that the major causes of mangrove forest conversion
are due to port developments, roads and infrastructure,
human settlements, industrial development as the
intensity of urbanisation pressure increases. Most of
the habitat areas are under threat from encroachment
and land clearing activities notably in the Bukit
Hantu, Sedenak and Gunung Pulai forest reserve, Sg.
Pulai forest reserve and the Ramsar sites. Residential,
agricultural and aquaculture developments are also
affecting Sg. Johor and Sg. Kim Kim forests. If allowed
to continue unchecked, greater encroachment and
degradation may result to the detriment of the natural
scenic beauty of the Iskandar Malaysia environment.

blueprint. Besides the PMP, the team also worked out
the total cost to implement all the Safety & Security
programmes.
The public version of Safety & Security blueprint was
released in May after being vetted by the relevant
authorities.

The Safety & Security team at IRDA was strengthened
by bringing onboard a senior Royal Malaysian Police
(PDRM) officer from Bukit Aman. The Safety &
Security Steering Committee that met on May 15,
endorsed the proposed Programme Management
Plan, including the total cost needed to implement
the Safety & Security programmes as outlined in the
blueprint.
Sg. Pulai Ramsar Site: pristine mangroves seen at low tide. Iskandar
Malaysia has 3 of the 6 Ramsar sites in Malaysia (Pulau Kukup, Tg.
Piai and Sg. Pulai). The other 3 are at Tasek Bera (Pahang), Kuching
Wetlands (Sarawak) and Lower Kinabatangan-Segama Wetlands
(Sabah)

2009 Projects Implementation
Safety and Security
The year 2009 witnessed planning for the
implementation of Safety & Security programmes.
Stakeholders were engaged and members were
solicited to form a Project Implementation Team (PIT)
to charter out the implementation plan. PIT members
had a lock up session in April and May to complete
the Programme Management Plan (PMP) for all the
46 safety & security programmes as outlined in the

The newly completed Foreign Workers Enclave in Skudai, Johor Bahru

The first programme, the pilot Foreign Worker Enclave
was launched in April with the completion of the
project at Skudai.
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Launch of Safe City Programme at Puteri Harbour, Nusajaya

Civil Defence Motorbike

Meanwhile, the Safe City programme incorporating
community policing was launched at Nusajaya in July.

The year ended with the Safety & Security Conference
in December. The conference was fully subscribed
and well participated by both the private and public
sectors.

Preparatory work on building the Community
Police Posts (CPP) at the housing estates and CCTV
installation started during the third quarter.
IRDA is fully committed to ensuring the Safety &
Security for those who Invest, Work, Live and Play in
Iskandar Malaysia. One representative from the Safety
& Security team was sent to participate fully in the
National Key Results Area (NKRA) Crime Lab from
5 October to 20 November. The Safety & Security
Implementation Plan was presented to the YAB Prime
Minister, IRDA’s Co-Chairman, in November.

Safety and Security Conference

Bus restructuring

Fire Services Department – Rapid Response Vehicle
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In 2009, IRDA started the Bus Industry Restructuring
Plan with the implementation of 2 quick-wins
and 9 supporting initiatives as a prelude towards
the industry restructuring. The Iskandar Malaysia
Transport Steering Committee (IMTSC) and
Pasukan Pengangkutan Awam Iskandar Malaysia
(PAIM) were established in July 2009 to drive the
implementation of public transport improvement
initiatives in the region. The committees comprise
several local and federal agencies working in
collaboration to transform the bus industry.

Achievements & Events
Integrated Planning

Members of IMTSC
Chairman /
Alternate
Chairman

Members

Secretariat

Dato’ Haji Abd.
Latiff Yusof

State Secretary,
State Government,
Johor

Dato‘ Hamsan
Saringat

Director, State
Economic Planning
Unit (UPEN), Johor

En. Saiful Anuar
Hussen

Director, Corridor
Division, 3PU,
Prime Minister’s
Department

Datin Naimah Ramli

Director, LPKP

Haji Mohd Jaafar
Awang

Mayor of Johor
Bahru

Haji Md Fuzi
Ahmad Shahimi

President of JB Tengah
Town Council, Johor

Haji A. Rahim Nin

President of Pasir
Gudang Town Council,
Johor

Pn. Noormazura
Mat Nawi

Director, Road Safety
Department, Johor

En. Mustapha
Zainuddin

Secretary, Planning
& Research Division,
Ministry of
Transportation

Supt. T. Raveendran

Chief, Public Order
& Traffic Department,
Johor

En. Sidek Paiman

KPSU, Local State
Government

Haji Mohd Rosli
Ramli

Director, Road
Transport
Department, Johor

Dato’ Ir. Abu
Bakar Ahmad

Director, Public Works
Department, Johor

En. Ismail bin
Ibrahim

Chief Executive
IRDA

En. Mohd Gadaffie
bin Abd. Aziz (UPEN)

PAIM through facilitation by IRDA started Bas
Iskandar Malaysia services beginning December 2009.
The services focused on social routes located at highly
populated residential areas, suburban residential
villages and newly developed areas of which 16 routes
were identified for implementation.

• PAIM stands for Pasukan
Pengangkutan Awam Iskandar
Malaysia
• Established on 1 July 2009
Reporting

• Reporting to Iskandar Malaysia
Transport Steering Committee
(IMTSC)

Objective

• Act as the implementation vehicle
for public transport projects in
Iskandar Malaysia

Membership

UPENJ (Project Manager)
• LPKP
• JPJ
• MPJBT
• MBJB
IRDA (Secretariat)
• JKR
• JKJR
• MPPG
• MPKu

Roles

• Implementing public transport
projects in Iskandar Malaysia
• Promoting public transport as a
mode of choice in Iskandar Malaysia
• Develop policy and standards
• Strategic planners to facilitate and
coordinate realisation of Iskandar
Malaysia public transport vision
• Act as the Secretariat for IMTSC

Frequency of
meetings

• Once per month or as when
required

Process

• Public Transport Implementation  
Unit that will leverage on the
authority/power of its members,
as necessary, via engagement
with federal/state authorities and
related agencies

En. Jaafar bin Abd
Rahman (IRDA)
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iv. Introduction of Standard Operating Procedure
(SOP) for drivers
v. Promoting competency development for operators
vi. Comfort and bus cleanliness
vii. Displaying route service maps and timetables
viii. Traffic Flow enhancement initiatives
ix. Improving and cleaning up of Larkin Bus Terminal

Sample route: Terminal Larkin to Giant Taman Suria

Continuous improvements are expected and these
initiatives will set a stronger foundation towards
the industry restructuring. In addition, to ensure the
success of the bus industry restructuring, IRDA is
evaluating the need for mass transit implementation
and infrastructure improvements. The aim is to
implement a transit system that is affordable and
meets the current and future demand.
IRDA is developing a Transportation Blueprint to
provide a holistic understanding on issues relating to
transportation within Iskandar Malaysia. The scope
of the blueprint covers public transportation, private
transportation and freight transportation.

Bas Iskandar Malaysia (formerly Bas Perintis) launch

In the implementation of the project, IRDA and PAIM
embraced the continuous collaboration with current
bus operators. Three operators are selected to deliver
the services as per Service Level Agreement (SLA)
signed. The performance measurement of Bas Iskandar
Malaysia is based on the frequency of services,
reliability, customer service, cleanliness of the buses
and safety of the services.
Along with the implementation of Bas Iskandar
Malaysia, the following initiatives were also rolled out
in 2009:
i. Hiring criteria for drivers
ii. Introduction of a Code of Practice for operators
iii. Operationalising competency development
for drivers
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This blueprint will govern the holistic development
of a transportation system that provides mobility
to the people of Iskandar Malaysia and supports the
investment and economic growth within the region.

Achievements & Events
Social Development

Social development

Belia Tempatan Mahir (BERTAM) Programme

Skills Enhancement and Employability Development (SEED)

13 Talent Development Programmes
for Locals as part of Human
Capital Blueprint Implementation

Communicative English Programme, Certified English
Programme and Belia Tempatan Mahir (BERTAM).

The Iskandar Malaysia Human Capital Blueprint
serves to assist stakeholders in determining the
human capital demand in the nine targeted economic
clusters for Iskandar Malaysia, as well as in formulating
suitable strategies and recommendations to ensure
sustainable talents to support its development.
In realising this vision, the blueprint recommended
a comprehensive Human Capital Development
programme to ensure that locals are developed and
equipped with the right skills and knowledge. In 2009,
13 Talent Development Programmes were conducted
and more than 3,500 locals participated. The
programme was divided into three categories based
on target groups, namely pre-employment, up-skilling
and re-skilling and entrepreneurship.
The pre-employment development programme
was created for local graduates to increase their
employment opportunities. It focuses on exposing
them to the actual skills needed by industries and
organisations. As such, 70% of the module content
was based on hands-on training while the remaining
30% on theoretical aspects. The programmes in
this category include IMGLAD (Iskandar Malaysia
Graduate Leadership Assessment and Development),
Certified Associate in Project Management (CAPM),
ToastMasters International (for Degree and Diploma),

The up-skilling and re-skilling programme was
created for the existing workforce that requires
competency and skills enhancement to increase
productivity and career opportunities in Iskandar
Malaysia. The programme can also cater to the
retrenched, switching profession or those who need
to enter the job market, especially in the industries
promoted in Iskandar Malaysia. The sectors that
were the main focus in 2009 were Hospitality
and Medical, Petrochemical and Oleochemical and
Electric and Electronics due to the readiness and
immediate need – and the training programme for
this category was called the Skills Enhancement and
Employability Development (SEED). Another training
programme under this category was the Project
Management Professional, which is an internationally
recognised professional certification.
The construction industry is growing tremendously
in Iskandar Malaysia, especially in most of the
development projects. Hence, the Entrepreneurship
Development Programme focuses on Contractor
Development Programme. The main objective is
to elevate the standard and capability of the local
contractors to ensure that they participate actively in
development projects in Iskandar Malaysia, especially
in achieving international standards. Two different
training programmes were conducted, namely
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Rendering of public housing in Iskandar Malaysia

Planned public housing development will ensure high quality of living
standards

Business Management and Industrialised Building
System (IBS). IBS is a controlled construction process
that utilises techniques, products, components
or building systems which involve pre-fabricated
components and on-site installation with a minimum
use of unskilled labour. It is also conducted in support
of the Government’s initiative for total industrialisation
of the construction industry by 2010.

The study on the ‘Five (5) Years Strategic Business Plan
for Iskandar Housing Management Company (IHMC)’
was completed this year and will set the basis for the
operation management of the SPV and its long-term
business plan.

Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV)
approved for implementation of
Public Housing Project
The Iskandar Regional Development Authority (IRDA)
Members of Authority in July approved the set-up of
a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) to implement and
manage the public housing programme in Iskandar
Malaysia.
The RM200 million programme, wholly funded by the
Minister of Finance (MOF), involves the construction
of 1,500 units of quality rental housing with improved
public facilities for the low to middle-income groups.
This project will provide three and four-storey walkup apartments with built-up of 900 to 1,200 sq ft per
unit. The SPV will facilitate the timely development
and delivery of the programme within the specified
time-frame, quality requirement and budget. This will
be executed through a property management system
that will ensure sustainable and quality building
management and maintenance.
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The year 2009 marks the commencement of the
construction of the public housing. The project, which
will be constructed fully using the Industrialised
Building System (IBS), kicked off on site in mid October
and is targeted for completion in early 2011.

Orang Asli Youth Trained under
the Belia Tempatan Mahir (BERTAM)
Programme
The socio-economic status of the Orang Asli
community will continue to be elevated to ensure
they benefit from the region’s prosperity and growth.
In line with this, 41 Orang Asli youth from Kampung
Simpang Arang, Gelang Patah were trained under the
Belia Tempatan Mahir (BERTAM) Programme.
This programme was conducted to equip them with
skills apart from fishing which is their sole source of
income. In this programme, the youth were trained by
Construction Industrial Development Board (CIDB),
and Akademi Binaan Malaysia (ABM) in various trades
in the construction industry.

Achievements & Events
Social Development

Orang Asli youth upon completion of their BERTAM training
programme

BERTAM trainees completing their practical training by building
homes in their communities

The approach taken in this programme is the firstof-its-kind in Malaysia, where the ‘Train and Build’
mechanism is applied. After attending theory classes
in the early part of the day, the 41 youth were given
“real-life” practical training where they built 4 units
of houses. After completion, they were handed over
to the selected poor in their community. The training,
which commenced in August, was completed in
November 2009.

The Iskandar Malaysia Contractor Development
Programme aims to elevate the standard and
capability of local contractors in Iskandar Malaysia
and to enable them to actively participate and fulfil
the construction needs in Iskandar Malaysia. This
programme is targeted for all contractors in Iskandar
Malaysia and Johor in general who will be supporting
the development of Iskandar Malaysia and is a joint
effort between IRDA, CIDB and IMREC (on IBS).

Upon completion of their training, the youths were
given skill certification and accreditation from CIDB
which will make them more marketable as semi-skilled
workers. IRDA, together with CIDB, also put in effort in
getting employment and placement for the trainees,
especially in projects and developments currently
taking place in Iskandar Malaysia. As of end 2009, at
least 50% of these trainees managed to get placement
in Iskandar Malaysia projects.

The programme kicked off early 2009 for RMK-9
contractors while the remaining 500 contractors who
registered commenced their training mid 2009.

local contractors receive ‘a’
rating upgrade under Contractor
Development Programme

Based on the assessment, trainings were provided
in the areas that needed improvement. Monitoring
and periodical assessment were done to check their
improvement once they completed the programme.

Through observation and feedback obtained from
players and developers, there is a concern about the
quality level of the local construction industry. Local
contractors were viewed as the group that lacks
the experience and exposure to best practices and
complex construction activities. This needs to be
addressed, especially that the region is envisioned to
be of international standards.

The approach taken for this programme is to
customise the development programme based on
the contractors’ capabilities. CIDB, using the SCORE
method, did assessment of the contractors and they
were rated based on their input in the SCORE forms.

As of end 2009, 59 contractors managed to upgrade
their rating from Rating 2 to Rating 3. The assessment
will be done continuously to ensure they improve in
their technical and management capability.
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Contractor Development Programme (CDP) attracted the
participation from local contractors

Foreign Workers Enclave

Pilot Project for Foreign Workers
Enclave launched

This enclave, which caters to foreigners working
in Nusajaya and Gelang Patah, is set to become
a benchmark for all foreign workers’ enclaves in
Iskandar Malaysia. The pilot model will be replicated
in other municipalities and areas identified in Iskandar
Malaysia.

An initiative under the Iskandar Malaysia Safety and
Security Framework, the Foreign Workers’ Enclave
is a long-term plan to mitigate the risks associated
with foreign workers over issues of security,
safety, health and the environment.
The pilot Foreign Workers’ Enclave in Skudai which
was launched in April 2009 is made up of six blocks of
flats within a 1.8ha site. It has 1,089 units that have
been fitted with double-decker beds and bathrooms
to accommodate 4,356 workers.
The Foreign Workers’ Enclave is a collaborative
venture between the Johor Economic Planning Unit
(UPEN), Johor Baru Tengah Municipal Council, the
Town and Country Planning Department, Royal
Malaysian Police, State Immigration and Health
Departments, and IRDA.
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All enclaves will be equipped with double-layer
fencing, a panic button to alert the police during
emergencies, a biometric attendance and access
system, closed-circuit television cameras, dedicated
wardens and 24-hour security surveillance.
Residents in the surrounding areas have been giving
good feedback and praising the initiative. They can
now look forward to a better living environment and
improved safety and security in the area.

Achievements & Events
Information & Communications Technology

Information & CommunicationS Technology (ICT)
In 2009, IRDA focused on enhancing the control
and reliability of its ICT services. It completed the
development of the ICT Policy, Process and Procedure
that is now the basis of the ICT Department’s
operations.

of energy. For example, the intelligent controls of the
modular precision cooling system actively adjusts
the fan speed and refrigerant flow to match the heat
load to maximise efficiency and address the dynamic
demands of today’s ICT environments.

It also developed the Disaster Recovery Procedure
(DRP) to ensure that a framework is in place for
business continuity. Consequently, the DRP will be
enhanced yearly to ensure that IRDA’s most valuable
asset (i.e. information) is secured.
The ICT Department also focused on enhancing
employee productivity and promoting cost-savings
via technology. Towards this end, IRDA processes such
as Human Capital Management (HCM) processes
for annual leave, claim application and payroll were
automated and self-serviced online.
Other processes in Finance and Procurement were
also made easy after the implementation of an ERP
(Enterprise Resource Planning) tool from Microsoft. In
addition, the deployment of Virtualisation Technology
which utilises server resources efficiently resulted in
60% reduction in total cost of ownership.

Business Continuity/Disaster Recovery Team members executing the
BC/DR Plan

In line with MAMPU’s Open Source Software (OSS)
initiatives, the ICT department continues to develop
and enhance various functionalities in IRDA’s
Employee Portal, MyIRDA. This portal which was
developed extensively using OSS, comprises three
main categories of functionalities:
• Business Applications – Investor Management
System and the One-Stop Centre system for
application submission tracking etc.
• Knowledge Management – Document Management
System, Forums and Events etc.
• Office Automation – Booking of resources and
various product requisition forms online etc.
The ICT Department’s most important project in
2009 was delivering the ICT Blueprint for Iskandar
Malaysia. The blueprint was at its final stage of
completion by the end of 2009.

For 10 physical servers, there are 50 virtual servers
running concurrently. This significantly reduces the
cost on purchasing physical servers and eases the load
on technical support.

Upon completion, the blueprint will provide a
framework for the rollout of world-class ICT
infrastructure and services that will make Iskandar
Malaysia the best place to invest, work, live and play.

The set-up of the data centre is based on a green
technology concept which promotes the efficient use
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THE ISKANDAR SERVICE CENTRE (ISC)
The Iskandar Service Centre Grows
from Strength to Strength
The Iskandar Service Centre (ISC) that was set up
in 2007 has grown from strength to strength in the
three years of operation. It is the key division within
IRDA that acts as a principal coordinating agent
for approvals in Iskandar Malaysia. ISC’s vision
is to be the single window for any information
requirement and enhanced approval facilitation
services. In essence, the ISC acts as the principal
coordinating and facilitating agent on behalf
of relevant Government agencies in relation to
receiving, processing and expediting the requisite
approvals for various licensing and permit
applications. It offers a multi-channel governmentinvestor interface through the employment of
simplified processes and work procedures.

For applications submitted through IRDA-ISC,
Iskandar Service Centre (ISC) will monitor and follow
up with the relevant government agencies on the
outcomes of the applications, and inform the client
accordingly.

Investor

IRDA

Government
Agencies

• Complete application forms & compile
supporting documents
• Respond to requests for additional
information & documentation
• Make payments for all fees and charges

• Ensure that applications and supporting
documents are complete
• Submit applications on behalf of investor
• Monitor and follow up and inform
investor on the outcome of the
applications

• Review applications
• Issue letter of approval or rejection

MACS – Malaysian Automated
Clearance System
MACS - An IRDA initiative for fast track Immigration clearance

Facilitation Services
Facilitation Services include advising our clients on
various submission requirements as well as facilitating
and submitting completed applications to relevant
Government Agencies on behalf of our clients.
IRDA’s Facilitation Services relate to various
applications as listed below:
• Land Transfer Applications
• Planning and Development Permit Applications
• Building and Infrastructure Plans Applications
• Business Licensing Applications
• Employment Pass Applications
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The Malaysian Automated Clearance System (MACS)
is an initiative introduced by the Malaysia Easy Access
Work Group under the JMC. It is:
• Another IRDA initiative
• A fast-track immigration clearance process
• Exclusively for Iskandar Malaysia’s foreign investors
entering Malaysia from Singapore
• Eligibility:
- Professionals (Singaporeans or non
		 Singaporeans) with Malaysian employment
		 pass or social visit entering from Singapore
- Employed or conducting business directly or
		 indirectly, in Iskandar Malaysia
- Dependants are also eligible to apply

Achievements & Events
The Iskandar Service Centre

facilitating land, planning,
building and infrastructure
applications / employment pass
applications
The ISC’s Agency Management unit received an
increasing number of requests to facilitate
applications pertaining to planning permissions,
building and infrastructure plans as well as
employment of expatriates for the year 2009. The
increase in the number of applications is shown in
Chart 1.

ISC - Number of ApplicationS
18
16
14
12
10

During the year, the unit facilitated land acquisition
applications and achieved an average timeline of 200
days, land development applications were completed
within 95 days while land registration only took an
average of 10 days. Planning permission applications
were processed within 23 working days while building
and infrastructure applications took an average of
17 days. All these applications were facilitated and
completed well within the target as per the Service
Level Agreement (SLA) timelines. The targeted and
SLA timelines for these applications are depicted in
Table 1.
Application

8
6
4
2
0

Second Link. The benefits of MACS are as follows:
• Fast-track Immigration clearance
• No stamps on passports
• Waiver of requirement to complete the IMM.26
(Arrival Card)
• 1 year validity at only RM30.00 per application

Land

Planning

2008

Building & Infra

Immigration

2009

Chart 1: Number of applications by category and year

Agency
Timelines

ISC’s
Timelines

Land Registration

30 days

14 days

Land Development

180 days

120 days

Land Acquisition Section 8

545 days

365 days*

Land Disposal

180 days

120 days

Planning Permission

92 days

30 days

Building Plans

92 days

30 days

Incentives (ISP)

New

30 days

30 days

3 days

Business Premise License

In 2009, the Agency Management unit established a
Licensing unit to enable facilitation of applications for
various business licences and expanded the scope of
services for the immigration unit to include the newly
introduced Malaysian Automated Clearance System
(MACS).

ISC INVESTOR Information Kits
launched

The MACS was introduced on 1 July 2009 to facilitate
travel between Malaysia and Singapore and was initially
open to Non-Malaysian investors in Iskandar Malaysia
as well as Singapore citizens issued with the relevant
long-term immigration passes. However, beginning
January 2010, the MACS facility has been extended
to the Singapore Frequent Traveller who is defined
as someone who travels at least 4 times a month
between Malaysia and Singapore via the causeway or

The Business Integration team successfully produced
an Information Kit for investors which comprised
information booklets on the following processes:
• Planning Permission
• Building & Infrastructure Plans
• Company Set Up
• Employment of Expatriates
• Incentives Support Package
• Guide for Approved Developers, Approved
Development Managers and IDR-Status Companies

Table 1: ISC’s targeted and SLA timelines
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for knowledge workers in Iskandar Malaysia. This
measure is aimed at attracting both Malaysian and
foreign knowledge workers to reside and work in the
promoted sectors in Iskandar Malaysia. This is also
in line with the Federal Government’s emphasis on
creating a highly-skilled workforce that is a prerequisite of a high income nation. IRDA, together
with key stakeholders such as the Ministry of Finance,
Khazanah Nasional Bhd, the Ministry of Energy,
Green Technology and Water and BiotechCorp then
formed a work group to draw up the guidelines,
processes and procedures for the implementation
of this incentive. As a result of this, IRDA was
mandated to be the processing secretariat for this
newly introduced incentive.

Customer Service Centre (CSC)
received over 2,000 enquiries

Investor Information Kits to streamline processes

These booklets provide detailed information on the
various applications, requirements and timelines for
these processes as well as relevant guidelines and
procedures. It is targeted mainly for investors and
IRDA’s stakeholders. The team also designed and
documented the relevant applications, processes and
requirements in four industry manuals namely:
• MM2H Programme Applications
• Private University Set Up
• Private Education Institution Set Up
• Medical Practitioners Registration

ISC’s Customer Service Centre (CSC) received more
than 2,000 enquiries over the course of 2009. These
were received through various avenues, including
phone calls, e-mails, letters, faxes, through our website
as well as walk-in enquiries.
Chart 2 below depicts the breakdown of mode of
contact for enquiries in 2009.

mode of contact 2009
13.9%

0.05%
67.30%

18.69%

Approval for five incentives
applications from four key
investors
In 2009, the Incentives Unit in ISC successfully
obtained approval from the Ministry of Finance for five
different incentives applications. These applications
came from four of Iskandar Malaysia’s key strategic
investors whom together will be investing a total of
RM3.3 billion in Iskandar Malaysia over the next 5
years.
The Prime Minister, in his 2010 Budget Speech had
also proposed a 15% personal tax rate scheme
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Phone
Website
Chart 2: Mode of Contact by Category

E-mail
Walk-in
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The CSC is available 24 hours, seven days a week and
endeavours to provide feedback to our customers
within 24 hours of the enquiry.
In 2009, 89.5% of a total of 830 enquiries received
which needed follow up were successfully answered
within the 24-hour timeline. Should the enquiry
require a more extensive and in-depth reply, the CSC
will follow-up with another reply upon acquiring the
information requested.

As part of CSC’s continuous commitment to the high
standards of customer satisfaction, it conducts a
weekly survey on its customers to get feedback on the
quality of services provided.
In 2009, CSC achieved a 91.7% score on customer
satisfaction and will continue to work towards
improving that score in the future.

The CSC received close to 700 enquiries which
were directly related to investments and Iskandar
Malaysia. Table 2 below shows the breakdown of
enquiries by category:
160
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About other State/Federal agencies in Iskandar Malaysia
About AD/ADM/IDR-status
Incentives
Procedure of Investment
Investment opportunity
About IRDA and Iskandar
Table 2: Breakdown by category of enquiries directly related to investments and Iskandar Malaysia
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2009 Iskandar Malaysia Calendar of
Major Events
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2009 Iskandar Malaysia Calendar of MAjor events

20th & 21st JUL 2009

SMIDEC - Southern Investment
& Trade Dialogue & Seminar
On The Manufacturing &
Services Sectors

22nd – 24th May 2009

4th MAR 2009

Iskandar Malaysia Open Day,
City Square

IRDA EXCO Meeting

15th JAN 2009

Study Tour by Officials
from the Government
of Ethiopia on Economic
Growth Corridors

6th – 8th May 2009

Study Tour from
Africa-Malaysia Technical
Exchange on SEZs and
Competitive Clusters

30th May 2009

Safe Home Campaign

2nd JUL 2009

SME Seminar and
Networking

10th JUL 2009

6th Members of the
Authority Meeting

21st FEB 2009

Study Tour to London
Metropolitan Police
HQ, London

21st May 2009

PM’s visit to
Iskandar Malaysia

19th – 21st May 2009
Cityscape Asia 2009,
Singapore

17th Council of
Commonwealth
Education Ministers

19th – 23rd APR 2009
23rd & 24th FEB 2009

Cityscape Abu Dhabi
Conference

MIDA - Southern Region
Investment & Trade
Dialogue & Seminar on the
Manufacturing & Services
Sectors Seminar

3rd – 5th JUN 2009

FMM-6th World
Chambers Congress

18th APR – 7th MAY 2009
MIDA Europe Trade Mission,
18 April - 29 April 2009
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14th – 19th JUN 2009

22nd – 24th JUL 2009

Iskandar Malaysia Business
Council Meeting

4th & 5th NOV 2009
4th – 11th OCT 2009

MATRADE Trade And
Investment Mission To
Qatar, Egypt & Saudi Arabia

8th SEPT 2009

15th OCT 2009

5th Joint Ministerial
Meeting

Hari Raya Open
House (KL)

30th NOV –
6th DEC 2009

15th OCT 2009

First HOPO Global
Gathering and
Convention, Genting
Highlands

The Times Higher
Education Awards

LIMA @ Langkawi

24th NOV 2009

12th OCT 2009
Hari Raya Open
House (JB)

5 - 8th OCT 2009
Cityscape Dubai

26th OCT 2009
Launch Wealth
Sharing Model

China-Iskandar Malaysia
Bird’s Nest Business
Opportunity 2009

28th OCT – 3rd
NOV 2009

MIDA Trade &
Investment Mission
to India

17th NOV 2009

Business Week European
Leadership Forum

17th – 19th AUG 2009

Iskandar Malaysia Investors
Dialogue 2009

12th NOV 2009

7th Members of the
Authority Meeting

22nd - 25th OCT 2009

6th AUG 2009

MIDA Trade &
Investment Mission
to Singapore

Iskandar Johor Open 2009

11th & 12th OCT 2009
Iskandar Malaysia
Open Day, Persada Johor

Annual Report 2009

87

88

Annual Report 2009

Iskandar Malaysia & IRDA
Financial Report

Financial Report
90
91
93
95
96
97
98

Statement of Corporate Governance
Internal Controls & Compliance
Annual Financial Review
Certificate of the Auditor General
Statement by the Members of IRDA
Statutory Declaration
Financial Statements

Annual Report 2009

89

Financial Report
Statement of Corporate Governance

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Statement of Corporate Governance sets out
the framework and process through which the
Authority and the Management of Iskandar Regional
Development Authority (IRDA) ensures the integrity
and sound operational policies and procedures in
accordance with prevailing laws, rules, regulations,
best practices and ethical business conduct.

Authority Meetings
A total of two (2) Authority meetings were held on
10 July 2009 and 12 November 2009, for the year
ended 31 December 2009. The details of the Members’
attendance are as follows:
Name

Designation

No. of
Meetings
Attended

Dato’ Sri Mohd Najib bin
Tun Abdul Razak

Co-Chairman

2/2

Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin
Othman

Co-Chairman

2/2

Tan Sri Dr. Wan Abdul Aziz
bin Wan Abdullah

Member

1/2

Dato’ Noriyah binti Ahmad
(Represented by Dato’ Dr.
Ali bin Hamsa, Director
General, Public Private
Partnership Unit)

Member

2/2

Dato’ Haji Abd. Latiff
bin Yusof

Member

2/2

Dato’ Hamsan bin Saringat

Member

2/2

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Kay Hock

Member

2/2

Tan Sri Dato’ Azman
Mokhtar

Member

2/2

Chief Executive/
Secretary

2/2

The Authority
The Authority is the highest decision-making body
in IRDA. There are eight Members of the Authority
and it is co-chaired by YAB Dato’ Sri Mohd Najib bin
Tun Abdul Razak, the Prime Minister of Malaysia and
YAB Dato’ Haji Abdul Ghani bin Othman, the Chief
Minister of Johor.
Other Members of the Authority are eminent
members from the public and private sectors, who
are appointed by virtue of Section 8(1) of the Iskandar
Regional Development Authority Act 2007. The
Authority is committed to ensure IRDA practices the
highest standards of corporate governance, in keeping
with the Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance.
The Authority provides strategic directions, reviews
and approves policies and decisions for the
development and promotion of Iskandar Malaysia,
ensures proper financial administration and human
capital management and oversees the overall
management of IRDA.

En. Harun bin Haji Johari

The agenda and a full set of papers for deliberation
were distributed in a timely manner before each
meeting. This ensured that the Members had sufficient
notice and thus were well prepared for each meeting.
All issues were deliberated and decisions made were
minuted accordingly.
The Authority has set up Committees and delegated
certain responsibilities to the Executive Committee
(“EXCO”) and the Audit Committee. The Committees
operate with clearly defined terms of reference.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND COMPLIANCE
The internal control system of IRDA is designed
to safeguard IRDA’s resources, both physical and
intangible. The system covers organisational, financial,
operational and compliance controls. The internal
control system also defines the lines of responsibility
and delegation of authority, documents internal
policies and procedural manuals, and formulates
corporate action plans and the operational budget of
IRDA.
There is an on-going process for identifying, evaluating
and managing significant risks faced by IRDA. This
process includes updating the system of internal
controls where there are changes to the operations
and regulatory requirements.
The key elements of the internal control system of
IRDA are as follows:
• Clearly defined division and delegation of
responsibilities to the members of the senior
management including a robust organisation
structure and the appropriate levels of authority for
expenditure approval limits.
• Documented internal policies and procedures that
take into account the changing environment, risks
and enhancement to processes.
• Establishment of committees to review and
recommend on key areas such as evaluation of
tenders, capital and operational expenditure,
projects, human resource issues and other pertinent
matters.
• Periodical reporting by the Management to the
Authority and/or the Audit Committee on financial
and performance indicators as well as key risk
issues.

by the Authority, as well as the Economic Planning
Unit of the Prime Minister’s Department and the
Treasury, Ministry of Finance, Malaysia.
• External audits conducted on the financial
statements of the Authority are under the statutory
purview of the National Audit Department (Jabatan
Audit Negara).

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was set up in 2008 to assist the
Members of the Authority in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities for the:
• Financial reporting process;
• System of internal control;
• Corporate governance;
• Risk management;
• Audit process, internal and external; and
• Compliance to laws and regulations;

Membership And Meetings
The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprised three
members. The AC met two (2) times on 18 May 2009
and 9 November 2009 in the year ended 31 December
2009. The details of the members and their attendance
are as follows:
Name

Designation

No. of
Meetings
Attended

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Kay Hock

Chairman

2/2

Tan Sri Dr. Wan Abdul Aziz
bin Wan Abdullah

Member

Dato’ Haji Abd. Latiff
bin Yusof

Member

2/2
1/2

• A detailed budgeting process that incorporates the
input of all operational functions of IRDA for the
preparation of the annual budget that is approved
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Internal Audit Department
IRDA has an Internal Audit Department (“IAD”), which
was set up in 2008. IAD reports independently to the
Audit Committee and appraises the system of controls
of IRDA. IAD assists the AC in the discharge of AC’s
duties and responsibilities.
The principal roles of the IAD are:
• To ensure that a sound internal control system is in
place and to provide reasonable assurance that such
a system continues to operate satisfactorily and
effectively for IRDA.
• To provide independent and objective evaluation
of the operations with the view to add value and
improve the operational efficiency, effectiveness
and economy.
• To help the organisation accomplish its objectives
by bringing a systematic and disciplined approach
to improve the effectiveness of risk management,
control and governance processes.
• To ensure that the internal audit activity is managed
effectively and the results of the internal audit’s
activities are communicated to the AC periodically.
• The activities undertaken by IAD are in conformance
with the Code of Ethics and the International
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal
Auditing issued by the Institute of Internal
Auditors.
The AC carried out the following activities over IAD
during the year:
• Reviewed and approved the annual internal audit
plan to ensure adequate scope and coverage.
• Reviewed the IAD’s resources to ensure that the
function is adequately resourced with competent
and proficient internal auditors.
• Reviewed the IAD’s performance and activities in
relation to the approved plan.
• Reviewed the internal audit reports which were
tabled, the audit recommendations made and
management’s response. The AC also directed
management to rectify and improve the processes
where appropriate.
• Monitored the corrective actions taken on the
outstanding audit issues.
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Programme Management Office
(PMO)
IRDA not only has an operational role but also has
many projects that require timely completion and
delivery to its stakeholders.
The Programme Management Office (PMO) within
Strategic Transition Management (STM) enhanced
IRDA‘s project delivery methodology and continued to
promote the project management discipline in IRDA.
IRDA facilitates the implementation of many projects
for the benefit of Iskandar Malaysia. The PMO provides
the organisation with a capability to monitor and
drive projects to ensure timely delivery. In 2009, the
PMO programme managed over 30 key projects and
ensured that the project management discipline and
standards were adopted. This includes adherence to
the necessary project governance processes.

Financial Report
Annual Financial Review

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REVIEW
Income Statement
IRDA’s performance in 2009 has been credible as it
continued to drive the growth potential of Iskandar
Malaysia despite the global economic turmoil. As
a federal government authority, IRDA relies on
administrative grants from the federal government
to finance its operational requirements. For the
year under review, RM75 million was allocated by
the Federal Government to enable IRDA to operate.
The key financial highlights for the year ended
31 December 2009 are as follows:
i) For the year ended 31 December 2009, IRDA had a
surplus of income over expenditure of RM4.58
million arising from income of RM83.65 million
consisting of grant income of RM75.00 million and
other income of RM8.65 million, respectively with
operational expenditure of RM79.07 million.
ii) In acknowledging IRDA’s operational needs
to improve its capacity and capabilities for
the development of Iskandar Malaysia, the federal
government had increased the operational grant
for the financial year ended 2009 to RM75 million
from RM67 million in the previous year.
iii) The significant increase in the other income during
the year was due to the increase in interest income
and tender fees of RM8.47 million and RM0.18
million, respectively.
iv) As IRDA continued to expand with its core
functions of planning, promotion and facilitation,
this has inevitably led to an increase in operating
expenditure by 53% compared to the previous
year. The main components of the operating costs
are as follows:
a. Increase in promotional cost by 32% as a result
		 of a more concerted effort to market and
		 promote Iskandar Malaysia, thus creating and
		 generating interest of Iskandar Malaysia
		 amongst potential investors and the local
		 population (2009: RM28.90 million; 2008:
		 RM21.90 million). These activities consisted of
		 international strategic media campaigns,
		 participation in overseas trade missions as well
		 as promotional and awareness events.

b. In 2009, IRDA continued to embark on its
		 recruitment of competent talents which are
		 necessary in ensuring the success of its project
		 executions towards achieving Iskandar
		 Malaysia’s vision of being a metropolis of
		 international standing. As a result, the number
		 of employees increased from an average of
		 85 in 2008 to 125 in 2009 resulting in an
		 increase in personnel cost by 106% (2009:
		 RM28.62 million; 2008: RM13.95 million).
c. IRDA’s continuing efforts to provide investors
		 with the appropriate platform to facilitate
		 investment in Iskandar Malaysia culminated in
		 the formulation of the Iskandar Malaysia
		 Investment & Marketing Strategy Plan and
		 the professional support required to enhance
		 project monitoring contributed to an increase
		 in professional consulting fees by 24% (2009:
		 RM8.82 million; 2008: RM7.15 million).

Breakdown of Operating
Expenses for the year ended
31 December 2009
16.3%
36.2%
10.9%

36.5%

Marketing & Promotions
Staff Cost & Benefits
Administrative Expenses
Professional Consulting Fees
(There is no significant change in expenditure trend for 2009 as
compared to previous year)
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Balance Sheet
i)

During the year, capital expenditure on computers
and office equipments of RM0.87 million and
RM1.39 million respectively were incurred as
IRDA continued with its operational expansion.
ii) Other receivables, deposits and prepayments
increased by RM1.54 million (358%) due to
cost sharing of promotional as well as trade mission
activities, and increase in other deposits
and prepayments arising from the organisation
expansion.
iii) IRDA’s cash balance stood at RM200.87 million as
at 31 December 2009 consisting of:
a. Operational cash balance of RM16.64 million
		 which was mainly reserved for operational
		 expenditure of two months and operational
		 commitments.
b. Development expenditure cash balance
		 amounted to RM132.40 million which was
		 mainly reserved for contractual obligations
		 from projects implemented under the Ninth
		 Malaysian Plan (RMK-9) and the Stimulus
		 Package mainly for Human Capital
		 Development Programmes.
c. Social Project Fund balance of RM51.82 million
		 which is expected to be utilised in 2010.
iv)		 Other payables and accrued expenses as at
		 31 December 2009 of RM54.25 million
		 consisted of contractual obligations under
		 the operating fund that have been settled after
		 the year end and contractual obligations
		 under the development fund mainly due to
		 the retention sum on progress payment of the
		 Ninth Malaysian Plan (RMK-9) projects.
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v) As at 31 December 2009, the special funds
managed by IRDA were represented by:
a. Development fund of RM79.59 million arising
		 from the grant received of RM618.00 million
		 and RM20.00 million for the Ninth Malaysian
		 Plan (RMK-9) projects and Stimulus Package
		 programmes respectively; a brought forward
		 fund balance of RM184.34 million; and an
		 expenditure of RM742.75 million.
b. Social project fund balance of RM51.84 million
		 arising from contribution received in 2008 of
		 RM50.00 million and accumulated interest
		 income generated of RM1.84 million.
vi) The Authority did not have any outstanding capital
commitment as at 31 December 2009.
As the key catalyst for growth for Iskandar Malaysia,
IRDA’s continued development is critical to the
successful transformation of the region into a
strong and sustainable metropolis of international
standing. The formulation of blueprints to provide
comprehensive parameters and guidelines in the
development of Iskandar Malaysia and the successful
completion of projects in Iskandar Malaysia under the
Ninth Malaysian Plan (RMK9) continue to be crucial
to the success of Iskandar Malaysia. Marketing and
promotion activities will be enhanced with a focus
on selected activities and a better collaboration
with strategic partners to ensure efficient utilisation
of funds.
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BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2009
	Note
		

2009
RM

2008
RM

Property, plant and equipment
3
4,314,947
4,126,593
					
				
Current Assets
				
			
Other receivables,
deposits and prepayments
4
1,978,449
432,803
Cash and cash equivalents
5
200,875,282
257,830,831
					
		
202,853,731
258,263,634
					
				
Current Liabilities					
				
Other payables and accruals
6
54,254,122
7,812,704
					
		
54,254,122
7,812,704
				
					
Net Current Assets		
148,599,609
250,450,930
					
		
152,914,556
254,577,523
				
					
Represented by:					
				
Operating Fund 		
21,483,410
16,901,567
Special Development Fund

7

79,588,679

186,904,904

Social Projects Fund
8
51,842,467
50,771,052
					
		
152,914,556
254,577,523

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
	Note
		

2009
RM

2008
RM

Government grants
9
75,000,000
67,000,000
				
Other income
10
8,654,689
312,768
					
		
83,654,689
67,312,768
					
Operating expenses
11
(79,072,846)
(51,901,737)
					
Surplus for the financial year		
4,581,843
15,411,031

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY							
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
			Special
		
Operating
Development
		Fund
Fund
		
RM
RM
At 31 December 2007

1,490,536

-

Social 		
Projects
Fund 	Total
RM
RM
-

1,490,536

Development grant received 					
from Government
301,500,000
301,500,000
						
Special Projects Fund received
50,000,000
50,000,000
						
Utilisation of development grant
(117,162,895)
(117,162,895)
						
Interest income
2,567,799
771,052
3,338,851
						
Surplus for the financial year
15,411,031
15,411,031
						
At 31 December 2008
16,901,567
186,904,904
50,771,052
254,577,523
						
Development grant received 					
from Government
618,000,000
618,000,000
						
Stimulus Package fund 					
received from Government
20,000,000
20,000,000
						
Utilisation of development grant
(735,110,802)
(735,110,802)
						
Utilisation of Stimulus
Package fund
(7,637,624)
(7,637,624)
						
Interest income
(2,567,799)
1,071,415
(1,496,384)
						
Surplus for the financial year
4,581,843
4,581,843
						
At 31 December 2009

21,483,410

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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79,588,679

51,842,467

152,914,556
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT						
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
		Note
			

2009
RM

2008
RM

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES				
				
Surplus for the financial year		
4,581,843
15,411,031
					
Adjustment for :				
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
3
2,075,902
1,602,600
					
Surplus before working capital changes:		
6,657,745
17,013,631
					
Increase/(Decrease) in:				
				
Government grant receivable		
6,000,000
Special development fund 		

(107,316,225)

186,904,904

Social projects fund 		

1,071,415

50,771,052

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments		

(1,545,646)

(143,537)

Other payables and accruals		
46,441,418
451,961
					
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities		
(54,691,293)
260,998,011
					
			
CASH FLOW USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES				
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
3
(2,264,256)
(4,307,877)
					
Net cash used in investing activities		
(2,264,256)
(4,307,877)
					
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH				
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		
(56,955,549)
256,690,134
					
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS				
AT BEGINNING OF FINANCIAL YEAR		
257,830,831
1,140,697
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS				
AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR
5
200,875,282
257,830,831
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
31 DECEMBER 2009				
1.	GENERAL INFORMATION
		
ISKANDAR REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT
AUTHORITY (“IRDA”) was established on 12th
	February 2007. The main activity of IRDA is to act
as the authority empowered to plan, promote,
process, stimulate, facilitate and undertake the
development of Iskandar Malaysia.		
								
The total number of employees of IRDA at year
end was 144 (2008: 103).				
									
The principal place of operation of IRDA is located
at #G-01, Block 8, Danga Bay, Jalan Skudai, 80200
Johor Bahru, Malaysia.					
								
2.	SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES					
The following accounting policies are adopted
by IRDA and are consistent with applicable
approved accounting standards for private entities
issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards
Board (“MASB”).					
(a)
		
		
		
		
		
		
		

Basis of Accounting
			
The financial statements of IRDA are prepared
on the historical cost basis except as disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements and
in compliance with the provisions of the
Iskandar Regional Development Authority
Act, 2007 and applicable approved accounting
standards for private entities in Malaysia. 		

(b) Income Recognition			
		
Government Grants			
		
Operating and development grants are
		
recognised in the income statement when
		
the rights to receive the grants are approved
		
and the grants will be received during the
		
financial year. 					
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Development grants are recognised in the
income statement over the financial period
necessary to match them with the costs they
are intended to compensate. The grants that
do not match with the costs are presented in
the balance sheet as deferred grants.		

		
Deferred grants are amortised in the income
		
statement over the life of the assets by an
		
amount equal to the depreciation charge. 		
							
(c) Property, Plant and Equipment		
		
Property, plant and equipment are stated
		
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
		
accumulated impairment losses.		
								
		
Depreciation				
		
Property, plant and equipment purchased at
		
cost of RM500 and below are expensed as
		
incurred. The straight line method is used to
		
write off the cost of the property, plant and
		
equipment over the term of their estimated
		
useful lives at the following principal annual
		
rates:						
						
		
Motor vehicles
25%
		
		
Computers
33 1/3%
		
		
Furniture and fittings, office
		
equipment and renovation
20%
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2.	SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(d) Other Receivables
		
		
Other receivables are carried at anticipated
		
realisable values. Bad debts are written off
		
in the financial year in which they are
		
identified. An estimate is made for doubtful
		
debts based on a review of all outstanding
		
amounts at the financial year end.
(e) Taxation and Deferred Taxation
		
Current tax is the expected amount of income
		
taxes payable in respect of dividend income
		
pursuant to the tax exemption obtained from
		
the Ministry of Finance as mentioned in note
		
13. It is measured using the tax rate that have
		
been enacted by the Inland Revenue Board at
		
the balance sheet date.				
								
		
No deferred taxation is recognised for the
		
financial year due to the tax exemption.		
(f) Other Payables 			
		
Other payables are stated at the amounts
		
which the Authority is contracted or obligated
		
to settle plus any incidental legal expenses.		
			
(g) Provision for Liabilities 		
		
Provision for liabilities is recognised when
		
the Authority has a present legal and
		
contractual obligation as a result of past
		
event, when it is probable that an outflow
		
of resources embodying economic benefits
		
will be required to settle the obligation, and
		
when a reliable estimate can be made of the
		
amount of the obligation. Provisions are
		
reviewed at each balance sheet date and
		
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
		
Where the effect of the time value of money
		
is material, the amount of a provision is
		
the present value of the expenditure expected
		
to be required to settle the obligation.		

(h) Cash and Cash Equivalents
		
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
		
and bank balances, and deposit which are
		
readily convertible to known amount of cash
		
and which are subjected to and insignificant
		
risk of change in value.				
				
(i) Impairment of Assets			
		
At each balance sheet date, the Authority
		
reviews the carrying amounts of its assets
		
to determine whether there is any indication
		
of impairment. If any such indication exists,
		
the impairment is measured by comparing
		
the recoverable amount with the carrying
		
amount of an asset and when the latter amount
		
is higher, the asset is written down to the
		
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
		
of an asset is the higher of its net selling price
		
and its value in use, which is measured by
		
reference to discounted future cash flows.
								
		
An impairment loss is charged to the income
		
statement immediately, unless the asset is
		
carried at revalued amount. Any impairment
		
loss of a revalued asset is treated as a
		
revaluation decrease to the extent of
		
previously recognised revaluation surplus for
		
the same asset. Should the impairment loss
		
of an asset exceeds its revaluation surplus,
		
the surplus impairment loss is charged to the
		
income statement.				
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		

Subsequent increase in the recoverable
amount of an asset if carried at cost, is
treated as a reversal of the accumulated
impairment loss previously recognised in the
income statement but the reversal is limited
to the accumulated impairment loss
previously recognised, and if carried at
revalued amount, is credited directly to
revaluation surplus.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
31 DECEMBER 2009				
2.	SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)					
(j)	Special Development Fund
		
Special Development Fund is managed on
		
behalf of and funded by the Federal
		
Government under Ninth Malaysian Plan
		
(RMK-9) for infrastructure development
		
project and Stimulus Package Fund used for
		
Human Capital Development Programmes.
								
			All receipts are credited and all payments
		
are debited to the account. Unutilised
		
amounts at the balance sheet date are
		
shown as balance of the above fund.		
								
(k)	Social Projects Fund				
		
Social Projects Fund managed by the Authority
		
is funded by third parties and utilised for
		
certain purposes in accordance with the
		
provisions of Section 37 of Iskandar Regional
		
Development Authority Act, 2007.		
								
		
All receipts are credited and all payments
		
are debited to the account. Unutilised
		
amounts at the balance sheet date are
		
shown as balance of the above fund.		
									
(l)	Foreign Currency Transactions
		
Transactions in foreign currencies are
		
recorded in Malaysia Ringgit at rates of
		
exchange ruling at the time of the
		
transactions.			
		
		
Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
		
translated into Ringgit Malaysia at the
		
approximate rates of exchange ruling at
		
the balance sheet date. Assets and liabilities
		
not in foreign currencies are determined on
		
fair value which translated into Ringgit
		
Malaysia at the approximate rates of exchange
		
ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange
		
differences arising from foreign currency are
		
recognised in the income statement.		
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The principal closing rates used in translation
		
of foreign currency amounts at the balance
		
sheet dates are as follow:				
								
2009 2008
RM
RM
1 Singapore Dollar (SGD)

2.44

2.41

1 Euro (EUR)

4.92

4.88

1 United Kingdom Pound (GBP)

5.50

5.00

1 Kuwait Dinar (KWD)

11.94

12.55

1 Japan Yen (JPY)

0.04

0.04

1 Qatar Riyal (QAR)

0.94

0.95

1 Bahrain Dinar (BHD)

9.09

9.20

1 United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED)

0.93

0.94

1 United States Dollar (USD)

3.42

3.46

1 Australia Dollar (AUD)

3.06

2.40

							
(m) Employee Benefits			
		
Short Term Benefits			
		
Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security
		
contributions are recognised as an expense in
		
the year in which the associated sevices
		
are rendered by employees of IRDA. Short
		
term accumulating compensated absences
		
such as paid annual leave are recognised when
		
services are rendered by employees that
		
increase their entitlement to future
		
compensated absences. Short term non		
accumulating compensated absences such as
		
sick leave are recognised when the absences
		
occur.
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(m)
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		

Employee Benefits (continued)
Defined Contribution Plan		
IRDA is required by law to make monthly
contributions to Employees Provident Fund
(“EPF”), a statutory defined contribution
plan for all its eligible employees based
on certain prescribed rates of the employees’
salaries. IRDA contributions to EPF are
disclosed separately. The employee’s
contribution to EPF are included in salaries
and wages.

(n) Cash Flow Statement
		
IRDA adopts the indirect method in the
		
preparation of the cash flow statement.
		
Cash equivalents comprise short-term, highly
		
liquid investments with maturities of less than
		
three months from the date of acquisition
		
and that are readily convertible to known
		
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
		
insignificant risk of changes in value.		
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
31 DECEMBER 2009
3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	
			
Furniture and
				Fittings, Office 		
		
Equipment &
		
Motor Vehicles
Computer
Renovation
Total
		
RM
RM
RM
RM
Operating Fund:		
Cost
At 1 January 2009

887,272

2,311,294

3,051,790

6,250,356

Additions

-

875,394

1,388,862

2,264,256

Disposal

-

-

-

-

At 31 December 2009
887,272
3,186,688
4,440,652
8,514,612
						
Accumulated Depreciation					
						
At 1 January 2009
386,616
1,019,697
717,450
2,123,763
Additions
Disposal
At 31 December 2009

221,818

965,953

888,131

2,075,902

-

-

-

-

608,434

1,985,650

1,605,581

4,199,665

Net Book Value					
At 31 December 2009
278,838
1,201,038
2,835,071
4,314,947
						
At 31 December 2008
500,656
1,291,597
2,334,340
4,126,593
Depreciation charge
for 2008
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221,819

770,423

610,358

1,602,600
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
31 DECEMBER 2009
4. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS	
		
		

2009
RM

2008
RM

Operating Fund:			
Deposits

548,207

144,747

Prepayments

195,622

3,724

Other receivables

965,376

258,260

		
1,709,205
406,731
				
			
Special Development Fund:			
				
Deposits
250,000
		
250,000
				
Social Projects Fund:			
				
Interest receivables
19,244
26,072
				
		
19,244
26,072
				
Total
1,978,449
432,803
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
31 DECEMBER 2009
5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
		
		

2009
RM

2008
RM

Operating Fund:			
Cash in hand

9,000

9,050

Bank balances
16,640,170
20,108,576
				
		
16,649,170
20,117,626
				
Special Development Fund:			
				
Bank balances
132,402,889
186,968,225
				
		
132,402,889
186,968,225
				
				
Social Projects Fund:			
				
Deposits with licensed bank
51,823,223
50,744,980
				
		
51,823,223
50,744,980
				
Total
200,875,282
257,830,831
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
31 DECEMBER 2009
6. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS					
		
		

2009
RM

2008
RM

Operating Fund:			
Other payables

751,320

7,626,799

Accruals
438,593
122,585
				
		
1,189,913
7,749,384
				
Special Development Fund:			
				
Other payables
53,064,209
63,320
		
53,064,209
63,320
				
Total
54,254,122
7,812,704
Other payables comprise amounts outstanding for ongoing costs. The amounts owing are interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

7.	SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT FUND							
					
		
2009
		
RM

2008
RM

As at 1 January

186,904,904

-

Development grant received from Government

618,000,000

301,500,000

Stimulus Package fund received from Government
20,000,000
				
		
824,904,904
301,500,000
Interest income

5,588,207

2,567,799

		

830,493,111

304,067,799

Less: Utilisation of development grant

735,110,802

117,162,895

Less: Utilisation of Stimulus Package fund

7,637,624

-

Less: Interest income transferred to Operating Fund

8,156,006

-

79,588,679

186,904,904

As at 31 December
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
31 DECEMBER 2009
8.	SOCIAL PROJECTS FUND							
		
		
As at 1 January
Social Project Fund received
		
Interest income
As at 31 December

2009
RM

2008
RM

50,771,052

-

-

50,000,000

50,771,052

50,000,000

1,071,415

771,052

51,842,467

50,771,052

2009
RM

2008
RM

9.	GOVERNMENT GRANTS
		
		

Operating Fund:			
				
Government grants received
75,000,000
67,000,000
				
		
75,000,000
67,000,000

10. OTHER INCOME			
		
		

2009
RM

2008
RM

Operating Fund:			
Tender fees

185,855

127,500

Interest income
8,468,834
185,268
				
		
8,654,689
312,768
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
31 DECEMBER 2009
11. OPERATING EXPENSES
		
		

2009
RM

2008
RM

Operating Fund:			
The details of operating expenses are as follows :			
Professional fees

8,646,375

7,157,125

14,300

13,000

Board members’ allowances

259,700

264,000

Allowances - AIC Members & Advisory Council

203,191

273,581

8,500

4,500

10,700

-

Rental expenses

1,897,763

1,391,095

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

2,075,902

1,602,600

29,080

5,000

Auditors’ remuneration

Allowances - IRDA Exco
Allowances - Tender Board A & B

Donation

Staff costs			
- Salaries and allowances

19,837,811

11,207,097

- EPF

5,681,666

1,768,982

55,008

37,590

- Overtime

129,459

85,203

- Ex-Gratia

-

718,522

2,897,035

-

5,100

200

23,188

136,360

28,904,902

21,902,008

Entertainment

130,229

69,020

Training and seminar

543,118

136,657

1,121,921

542,409

- SOCSO

- Bonus
- Staff welfare
- Staff recruitment
Marketing and promotions

Utilities charges
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
31 DECEMBER 2009
11. OPERATING EXPENSES (continued)					
		
		

2009
RM

2008
RM

Operating Fund:			
Website expenses

213,870

124,320

Upkeep of office equipment, premises and motor vehicles

640,575

219,927

Printing and stationeries

565,031

446,241

Meeting expenses

264,670

89,986

42,139

5,484

570

71

404,807

453,356

21,398

13,719

Advertisement

919,266

763,889

General expenses

343,900

206,970

-

406

149,594

39,690

-

3,775

Licence and registration fees

15,806

8,700

Membership and professional subscriptions

42,360

4,229

Postage and courier

45,332

79,220

2,928,580

2,126,805

79,072,846

51,901,737

Medical charges
Loss on foreign exchange
Insurance
Bank charges

Quit rent
Security charges
Taxation fees

Accommodation and travelling
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS				
31 DECEMBER 2009
12.	STAFF COSTS
		
		

2009
RM

2008
RM

28,629,267

13,953,954

Operating Fund:
Staff costs

Included in staff costs are IRDA’s contributions to Employee Provident Fund of RM3,669,727 (2008: RM1,768,982).

13. INCOME TAX
IRDA has obtained tax exemption under Section 127(3) of the Income Tax Act, 1967. All income except for
dividend income are exempted from tax beginning from year assessments 2007 until 2016.

14. OPERATIONAL COMMITMENTS
		
		

2009
RM

2008
RM

Approved and contracted:			
				
Marketing and promotions
7,755,000
2,855,239
Consultancy and blueprint studies
2,126,926
10,459,599
				
		
9,881,926
13,314,838
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